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Friday, January 20, 2006

--- Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, where are we?


MR. MILLAR:  I understand that I believe Mr. Rodger has some preliminary issues, maybe Mr. Shepherd as well.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Good morning.  Just a few matters.  Firstly, to give you the status of some undertakings that were given yesterday.  Earlier today we filed electronically, responses to undertakings J3.2 and J3.3, and these were the various rating reports pertaining to Toronto Hydro.  As I say, they were sent out electronically.  We are endeavouring to print out hard copies.  I don't have those right at the moment, but they are coming shortly.


We've also hand out a response to undertaking J3.4.  You should have copies of that.  J3.5 is complete.  We're just printing hard copies of that, and J3.9, the shareholder direction, hard copies of that have been provided to everybody and you should have copies, as well, sir.  They are in the basket at the front, Mr. Millar.


MR. KAISER:  Do we have these, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, Mr. Rodger, which document was that?  What is the number?


MR. RODGER:  This was the shareholder direction and also -- which was undertaking ‑‑


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, yes, I do see.


MR. RODGER:  -- J3.9 and also J3.4.


I would also like to speak to undertaking J3.1, And that was provided to Toronto Hydro's current ROE number.  And I have a letter in that regard that I would like to hand out and speak to.  I'll just circulate those.


You will recall yesterday, sir, Toronto Hydro was asked to provide its current ROE number, and later in the day yesterday the OEB filed a two‑page document, which I believe is Exhibit ‑‑ was also part in response to this undertaking 3.1, their mechanistic approach to update the cost of capital parameters.  When Toronto Hydro received this undertaking, Mr. Haines, who was on the first panel, contacted Kathleen McShane, who he had referred to in panel 1, in the context of having some preliminary discussions some time ago on this ROE issue.  And Mr. Haines asked Ms. McShane to run the calculation satisfy the undertaking. 


And in response, she sent Mr. Haines yesterday afternoon, late in the day, a two‑page letter and a third page graph.  And what I would like to do is just read this short letter, because I think it has some interesting implications not only for this hearing, but also for all the other applications that are before you in this application round.


MR. KAISER:  Before you do that, this may be what Mr. Shepherd is going to deal with.  In the event any of the parties have any questions with respect to this, are you undertaking to call her?


MR. RODGER:  If that's what the parties wish, I'm happy to do that.


MR. KAISER:  Is that satisfactory, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  We're on the same page on that one.  Please go ahead.


MR. RODGER:  So the letter is dated January 19th, 2006 from Kathleen McShane, and it's to Anthony Haines of Toronto Hydro Corporation, and the letter reeds as follows:

"Dear Mr. Haines:  In response to your request to calculate the updated allowed ROE for the electricity distributors according to the Board's guidelines, I have constructed the attached table.  Some explanation is in order.  Column 2 of the table shows the initial ROE of 9.88 percent set in the rate handbook dated March 9th, 2006.  It was, as indicated in the handbook, and in the Ontario Energy Board's reasons for decision RP-1999-0034, based on the methodology used in regulating natural gas utilities.  That methodology, which was set forth in the Board's draft guidelines on a formula-based return on equity for regulated utilities, March 1997, and recommended by Dr. Cannon for the Ontario electricity distributors in his December 1998 report entitled 'A discussion paper on the determination of return on equity and return on rate base for electricity distribution utilities in Ontario', entails setting an initial ROE by specifying a risk premium and long Canada bond yield with subsequent changes made by means of an automatic adjustment formula.  The automatic adjustment formula (Cannon methodology) increases/decreases the allowed ROE by 75 percent of the increase/decrease in the forecast 30-year Canada yield.  The result is that the risk premium increases or decreases by 25 basis points for every one percentage point decrease or increase in the forecast 30 year Canada bond yield.  The 9.88 percent return on equity set in the 2000 rate handbook reflects the implementation of the Cannon methodology, with the result that the risk premium at a 6.2 percent forecast long Canada yield was 3.68 percent.  Using the July 2004 forecast of 30 year Canada of 5.81 percent as was done in the first two drafts of the 2006 handbook, the mechanistic update of the ROE using the Cannon methodology produces a risk premium of 3.8 percent, column 3 of the attached table.

"The 9 percent ROE specified in the final 2006 handbook uses the April 2005 forecast of long Canadas, but kept the risk premium at the 3.8 percent set out in the earlier drafts rather than fully update the ROE using the Cannon methodology.  Since the forecast 30-year Canada yielded based on the April 2005 forecast had declined from 5.81 percent to 5.21 percent, a complete mechanistic updating of the ROE using the Cannon methodology would have produced an equity risk premium of 3.93 percent rather than the 3.80 percent specified in section 5.1 of the handbook and an ROE of 9.13 percent as shown on column 4 of the table, rather than 9 percent.

"Similarly, as shown in column 5, mechanistically updating the ROE with the December 2005 census forecast, consistent with the Cannon methodology referenced at page 30 of the 2006 handbook, results in a 30-year Canada bond forecast of 4.5 of percent, a risk premium of 4.09 percent and an ROE of 8.65 percent.  Sincerely, Kathleen C. McShane."


If you flip over to the table entitled "ROEs For Electricity Distributors", you see the columns showing this mechanistic update from 2006 to the most recent forecast.  If you look down to the risk premium based on the guidelines, you will see that from the year 2000 handbook to the drafts 1 and 2, both drafts of the 2006 handbook, you see how the change in the bond yields also triggered this automatic change in the equity risk premium.  But when we get into 2006, instead of using the 3.93 percent, which would be the result of this mechanistic update, the model somehow just maintained 3.8.


Why this is important is that if there was an oversight in the handbook, then it appears to us that every other historical test year filer, as well as Hydro One and Ottawa, perhaps have a wrong number in their own application, if really this mechanistic update produced 9.31 ROE.  Now I should let you know that Toronto Hydro has not --


MR. KAISER:  9.31 or 9.1?


MR. RODGER:  9.13.  I'm sorry, sir.  We also wanted to let you know that Toronto Hydro has not changed its position.  As it has said all along, we have relied on the handbook.  We relied on 9 percent.  We're not asking for a change, but we did want to bring this issue to the Board's attention.  


And I think if you do look another the Board's filing yesterday, this undertaking 3.1, you'll also see this exemplified, the third column in on page 1 of that undertaking filing, return on equity -- equity risk premium, and you will see that the 3.8 percent is held constant from December 1999 to March 2006. 


So as I say, we were made aware of this only yesterday when this discussion came about, but we wanted to bring it to the Board's attention.  If you would like, we can bring Ms. McShane to speak to this directly on Tuesday, I understand.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, not now but possibly after the break, since this commentary really applies to your exhibit, your 3.1, can you let the Panel know whether you agree with these changes. 


Mr. Millar:   Yes, Mr. Chair, I actually already passed this letter down to our expert on this issue and I'll wait do hear what he has to say. 


MR. KAISER:  There's no need to call Ms. McShane if you agree with it. 


Mr. Millar:  Well, the other intervenors may have questions.  


MR. RODGER:  Just two other preliminary matters, Mr. Chairman.  One was the issue about the return on equity realized for 2005 and the issues around whether we could disclose that or not.  I had a discussion last night with the general counsel at Toronto Hydro.  The long and short of it is, it may not be quite as simple as I laid it out yesterday in terms of just relying on the Board's confidentiality provisions.  Bottom line is I don't have an answer this morning, but will endeavour to do so by Monday, Tuesday at the latest.  


In the meantime, we are continuing to work to numbers, but at this point I can't let you our position with respect to that issue or with respect to releasing the business plans.  But we’ll advise the Board as soon as I have instructions.


MR. KAISER:   When would your third quarter results ordinarily be published -- your fourth quarter results?   


MR. COUILLARD:  We are probably going to file them the first week of March. 


MR. KAISER:  I take it at that time they would be made public. 


MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct. 


MR. RODGER:  The final preliminary matter, Mr. Chairman, there was an exchange yesterday between Mr. Warren and Mr. Cochrane, at least with this panel, concerning Mr. Warrens Exhibit K3.16.  


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  And there was a question with respect to page 25 of that exhibit, that document, and there was a question about what “reserved draws” pertain to and whether that somehow was linked to Toronto Hydro.  


I understand from Mr. Cochrane he spoke with somebody at the City of Toronto’s financial department yesterday, and I’m wondering if he could speak to this matter to clarify the record. 


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Mr. Cochrane.


MR. COCHRANE:   Thank you Mr. Chair.  


Late yesterday afternoon I did speak with a Mr. Bert Riviera, R-i-v-i-e-r-a, a staff member with the City's financial planning group.  And he did confirm to me that the $87 million represented a draw on the City of Toronto's own operating reserves, which was unrelated in any way to the activities or its relationship with Toronto Hydro Corporation. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 


MR. RODGER:  Those are my preliminary matters, sir.  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Any other preliminary matters?  Mr. Shepherd. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  We have two items that we'll be using in our cross-examination, and I wonder if we could enter them as exhibits. 


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Thank you. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  The first one is headed up, “compensation comparison.”  And this is sourced from the information that's already filed in schedule C-4 for Toronto and Ottawa, with an adjustment that was suggested at an earlier cross-examination which is shown there.  And so that's the first one.  


MR. MILLAR:  K4.1, Mr. Chairman.

EXHIBIT NO. K4.1:  SCHOOLS ENERGY COALITION CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBIT ENTITLED “COMPENSATION COMPARISON”.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The second one is simply a list of load forecast numbers from the applicant’s evidence, and the source is E-4, schedule 15, an Excel spreadsheet that they filed.  And what it is showing is certain adjustments that we'll be asking the panel to explain why the adjustments took place.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  That’s 4.2?


MR. MILLAR:  4.2, Mr. Chairman.  

EXHIBIT NO. K4.2:  SCHOOLS ENERGY COALITION CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBIT LISTING LOAD FORECAST NUMBERS FROM E-4, SCHEDULE 15.


MR. RODGER:  Just for the record, we now have hard copies in response to Undertaking J3.5, the comparison of class 47 to the original filing.  So that now is being circulated.


MR. KAISER:  What's still printing, the advisories from the bond-rating agencies?   


MR. RODGER:  That's correct.  And there's about at least seven or eight documents that were sent electronically.  So that may take a little longer, sir.  We'll get it as fast as we can.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd, I think you were cross-examining, were you?   


MR. SHEPHERD:   No, it may have sounded like me, but it was actually Mr. Warren.  


MR. KAISER:   I'm sorry.  Mr. Warren?   

TORONTO HYDRO CORPORATION - PANEL 2; RESUMED

J.S. Couillard; Previously Sworn.

James Cochrane; Previously Sworn.

Pankaj Sardana; Previously Sworn.

Rick Zebrowski; Previously Sworn.

CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN: 

MR. WARREN:  Panel, we were discussing thematically yesterday the relationship between Toronto Hydro and its shareholder and I have, a few moments ago, been handed the response to Undertaking J3.9 –- sorry, the response to undertaking J3.9 which is the shareholder direction.  Who is the person on the panel that could speak to that?


MR. COUILLARD:  I will.  


MR. WARREN:  Now, this document is stated to have been originated in July of 1999, and it has been restated as of October 3, 2002; is that right?   


MR. COUILLARD:  That's what the document says. 


MR. WARREN:  In addition to which there are additional changes made to the dividend policy that we spoke of yesterday in 2004; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. WARREN:  Could you turn up page 4 of that document, please.  Under the heeding “shareholder’s objectives,” it says:


“The shareholder’s objectives in connection with


Its relationship with Toronto Hydro are as


follows: A) the value of Toronto Hydro may be


maintained or increased;
B) shareholder’s income


stream from Toronto Hydro be comparable to the


shareholder’s estimated financial benefit of

Toronto Hydro had it been sold as a going concern;  C) Toronto Hydro's consumers not be unduly impacted by the succession by Toronto Hydro of the Toronto Hydro Electric Commission; and D) environmental impacts related to Toronto Hydro be improved.”


You'll agree with me there is nothing in the shareholder’s objectives that, for example, the interests of ratepayers with respect to prices paid for distribution be protected, is there?


MR. COUILLARD:  I don't agree with you, Mr. Warren.  I think point C talks about the customer not being unduly impacts by the succession Toronto Hydro to Toronto Hydro Electric Commission would speak to that.  


MR. WARREN:  Do you think that that's broad enough to encompass the protection of interests of ratepayers with respect to the prices they pay for distribution.  Is that your answer?   


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. WARREN:  Now B, the shareholder’s income stream from Toronto Hydro be comparable to the shareholder’s estimated financial benefit if Toronto Hydro had been sold as a going concern.  Do you know what the shareholder’s estimated financial benefit calculation was?   


MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, can you repeat your question.


MR. WARREN:  Do you know woo the shareholder’s estimated financial benefit if Toronto Hydro had been sold as a going certain concern, do you know what that estimate is?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, I don't. 


MR. WARREN:  Do you know what their expectation is with respect to income stream?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, I don't. 


MR. WARREN:  It frankly surprises me that this is a shareholder’s objective for your operations but you don't know, I take it, what their expectations are with respect to income stream; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct. 


MR. WARREN:  Now, looking down below that to 2.3, principles, A sub three.  In accordance –- sorry, let me read A.



“The business is integral to the well being of



the infrastructure of the City of Toronto.  The 



corporation recognizes that it is in the best 



interests of Toronto Hydro and the community of 

stakeholders whom the business affects that Toronto Hydro conduct its affairs -–“

and let me go down to three, 

“-- in accordance with the financial 

performance objectives of the shareholder as set out herein.”  


What are those financial performance objectives?   


MR. COUILLARD:  It refers to article 7 in the same shareholder direction.  


MR. WARREN:  Yes, and what are the financial performance objectives?


MR. COUILLARD:  The first one is that the board -- I'm referring to 7.1, Mr. Chair.  

“That the board --" 

meaning the board of directors of Toronto Hydro, 

"... will use its best efforts to ensure that Toronto Hydro meets the financial performance standard.  Credit rating and financial ratios, the corporation shall obtain and maintain and, if necessary for financing purposes, shall cause the distribution company to obtain and maintain a rating of A minus, as defined by S&P, or higher on its senior debt securities."


7.3, debt financing:

"The corporation shall optimize and, if necessary for financing purposes, shall cause the distribution company to optimize its debt financing in accordance with the provision of this direction, in particular, subsection 2.3.A, section 7.2 and subsection 7.5.C."


MR. WARREN:  Could I ask you to pause there, Mr. Couillard?  Would I be right in understanding that provision, in laypersons' term, that the corporation is to get the lowest available debt rate?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, I don't think it's fair to say that this is what this provision means.


MR. WARREN:  What do you say it means?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, our understanding of this provision is that according to the direction from -- following the direction from the Board, meaning the Ontario Energy Board, and in the financial market to be able to provide the best possible return on the best effort.


MR. WARREN:  Go ahead, please.  You're returning to the dividend policy, and I see below there is a dividend policy for fiscal 2004 with an expectation of a schedule of payments; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.


MR. WARREN:  And for fiscal 2005 there is a schedule of payments set forth; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.


MR. WARREN:  And would there be similar schedule of payments for 2006?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, there isn't.  The 2005 schedule will apply.


MR. WARREN:  And where would I find that statement in this document?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, what it means, the dividend policy means commencing in fiscal 2005, which means it's 2005 and thereafter.


MR. WARREN:  And in future, if the shareholder wishes to increase the dividend flow or to change the schedule, how is that achieved?


MR. COUILLARD:  The shareholder would have to first amend the dividend policy, which will be done through city ‑‑ it has to go through City Council, City of Toronto.  It would also be done in conjunction with discussion with senior management of Toronto Hydro and with the board of director of Toronto Hydro.  


In any cause, the final say on the dividend is decided by the board.  In considering their fiduciary responsibility, there is no obligation from the board to actually pay these amount to the City of Toronto.


MR. WARREN:  Now, Mr. Couillard, you had an exchange ‑‑ sorry, the preceding panel had an exchange on the question of the debt arrangements with the City of Toronto.  And I'm not sure I captured them and I would like an explanation, if I can.  As I understand it, your current arrangement is that you have a bond and that it is ‑‑ the interest rate is 6.8 percent; is that correct?


MR. COUILLARD:  It is not a bond.  It's a note payable.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, you're right.


MR. COUILLARD:  And it is with the City of Toronto for $980 million, and it's at 6.8 percent.


MR. WARREN:  And that pays, I think, something like, what, $67 million in a year interest; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  66.7.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I thought I heard yesterday, and I'm sure you'll correct me if I'm wrong, that if you went to the market today, you could get ‑‑ you could borrow that amount, but at a lower interest rate.  Did I understand that?


MR. SARDANA:  Yes, I think your understanding is correct.  Now, you have to keep in mind that if we go out to the market to borrow $980 million at once, that likely will not hold, in that it would take time to fill that kind of order even in the Canadian market.  So the rate may be higher.


MR. WARREN:  And I think you gave a figure for what you think the rate would be if you went to the market?


MR. SARDANA:  If you take a look at current market rates for debt at a 10‑year-type level, Government of Canada bonds are fading at around 4 percent.  Any time a corporation goes through finance, there's a credit spread that's layered on top of that.  There are commission costs that are layered on top of that, flotation costs, et cetera, legal costs, so on and so forth.


The all-in cost could be as high as 5 percent for 10-year note today.


MR. WARREN:  Now, 5 percent presumably would cost you -- your interest payments on those would be less than the 6.8 percent?


MR. SARDANA:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  My question then is:  Why is it that you have not refinanced at the lower rate?


MR. SARDANA:  It is up to the city to call for that note to be replaced, any or all -- any part of that note or all of it to be replaced.  It is not our call.  So the note has provisions within it that confer those rights to the city.  So I think that answers it.  We cannot go to debt markets and say we would like to borrow 980 million to pay off the city.  It's not our call.


MR. WARREN:  Would I be wrong in assuming that the city doesn't do that because it would lose its interest payments of $67 million a year; is that reasonable?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, we can't speak for what the city ‑‑ the reason for why the city ‑‑ the city, as mentioned yesterday, has different financial needs.  I can't speak to why the city would not go and monetize the debt right now.


MR. KAISER:  But you must know the answer to that.  You probably have had discussions with the city.  I think all Mr. Warren is asking you:  Are they open and receptive to cashing their note or not?


MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Chair, we have discussion with the city, obviously.  We filed $1 billion prospectus.  So, you know, if we didn't think that this could happen in the future, we wouldn't do that, and obviously the city has to do so before 2013 and they cannot monetize more than $330 million at the time.  


However, through our discussion with people at the city, they don't -- even in their -- they're currently doing their operating budget.  They do not want to include any type of monetization.  The reason, from our understanding -- and once again, I can't -- you know, it's through discussion with the city.  The reason is not the interest rate that is actually being paid versus what we would get, because, you know, their view is the interest rate will go down.  You can make the argument that the dividend will go up, because obviously the dividend is derived from an income.  There is more internal issue on the proceeds.  What will they do with this money?  That the city is right now struggling with and trying to sort out internally, and that's the main reason why, so far, they have not come to us in asking for this money.  


So are other LDCs in the province that still have not cashed in on their initial notes.  I'm not sure if I answered your question.


MR. KAISER:  A couple of points just before we go back to Mr. Warren.  Do I understand from that that there's a fixed term on this note and it really doesn't expire until 2013?


MR. COUILLARD:  It does not expire until 2013.  However, they would have to start monetizing in 2011, because currently the direction are that they cannot monetize more than $330 million at the time, so one‑third, one‑third, one-third.  So 2011, 2012 and 2013.


MR. KAISER:  That's in the note?


MR. COUILLARD:  That's in the note and it's actually disclosed in our financial statements.


MR. KAISER:  Is there any reason why you can't produce this note?


MR. COUILLARD:  The note with the city?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. COUILLARD:  I would to have check.


MR. KAISER:  If you could.  Sorry, Mr. Warren.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you wish an undertaking for that?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  I guess the undertaking is a best efforts or at least a check to see if that can be produced?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  J4.1, Mr. Chair.


UNDERTAKING NO. J4.1:  PRODUCE NOTE WITH THE CITY.

MR. WARREN:  Looking at this thing, Mr. Couillard, looking at this debt circumstance from the perspective of the ratepayers of Toronto Hydro-Electric, would I be right in concluding that the ratepayers would be better off if Toronto Hydro were to secure that financing at a lower interest rate?


MR. COUILLARD:  Hypothetically, if Toronto Hydro was able to go on the market and replace this debt at a lower cost, it obviously would reduce the revenue, the revenue or the -- sorry, the interest expense.  So there is a potential reduction in rates that could erupt from that.


MR. WARREN:  As a follow-up from that, does it follow, sir, that in this circumstance with respect to the loan, that the interests of the shareholder are being preferred to the interest of ratepayers of Toronto Hydro?  Is that not a fair conclusion on my part?   


MR. COUILLARD:  I don't believe so.  I mean, this is -- right now, currently, we're using the deemed debt rates, and this is really the debt rate that is provided to us by the Ontario Energy Board.  So we believe that -- I wouldn't agree with you on this, Mr. Warren.  


MR. WARREN:  Now, one of the provisions in here -- I'm sorry, I'm just working from this, panel, as you are.  If you could turn to page 14 of this document under the heading “quarterly reports,” it says: 



“Within 60 days after the end of the each fiscal 



quarter the board will prepare, on a consistent



basis with the previous fiscal quarter, and



submit to
the financial department a quarterly report.  The quarterly report will include, in respect of the
immediately preceding fiscal quarter --" 


And then it has number of listed items.  And going down to D:



“Information that is likely to materially affect 

customer's perceptions or opinions regarding Toronto Hydro.”


Now, this question may have been answered, and I apologize if it has and I'm repeating it, are there public -- these quarterly reports public documents?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, they are not. 


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me what information would be -- sorry, and is there a reason why they are not public documents?   In other words, Mr. Couillard, is there some financial disclosure constraint which precludes them from becoming public documents?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, there would be privileged information, from an OSC perspective, as they are disclosing also results in comparison to budget and plan from a corporate, including affiliates and unregulated business.


MR. WARREN:  Would I be wrong in assuming -- I’ll get too many negatives into this and I apologize.  Would I be correct in assuming, however, that information in the category of what is likely to materially affect customers’ opinions regarding Toronto Hydro is not information that is constrained by any Securities Commission limitations?  In other words, that's information that doesn't relate to financial matters and that is information that can be disclosed.  Is that not fair?   


MR. COUILLARD   I will need to seek counsel on that.  I don't know. 


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell, Mr. Couillard, in this category of information likely to materially affect customers’ perceptions or opinions, what is the information which is typically contained or reported in that category?


MR. COUILLARD:  If there was, and I say in the event we to do disclose something in this regard, it will be, like, corporate development, any type of restructuring that we would do, or things like that. 


MR. WARREN:  Now, in these reports, quarterly reports that are filed, do you file any information with the City with respect to the rate levels for the distribution services received by the customers in the City of Toronto?   


MR. COUILLARD:  So you are asking if there is information on rates?   


MR. WARREN:  Is there, within this D category, do you include information on the rate levels?   


MR. COUILLARD:  We would include information if there was application for rates.  If I remember well, this proceeding was described in one of our reports when we filed our application with our reports in the third quarter. 


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Couillard, there was an exchange on the first day of the hearing of this case.  I don't know that you need to turn it up, but it appears at volume 2 of the transcript at page 70 -- I should say second day.  The first day was the motion.  


Mr. Shepherd and Mr. O'Brian, Mr. Shepherd was asking questions about the return on equity in 2004 and the question was whether or not you over-earned.  And there was -- the provision of the information was dropped in your laps to answer.  And I'm wondering if you have had an opportunity to come up with an answer what your Toronto Hydro Electric System Limited's return on equity was in 2004, what the actual return was, and whether or not there were over-earnings in that period.  


MR. COUILLARD:  From -- we've not done a regulatory reconciliation of the return on equity for Toronto Hydro Electric System.  From an accounting perspective -- I just want to confirm my notes.  From an accounting perspective the return was 8.5 percent in 2004 for our regulated business. 


MR. WARREN:  And the actual return was?


MR. COUILLARD:  8.5 percent, from an accounting return, the actuals. 


MR. WARREN:  So is your answer that there were no over-earnings in 2004?


MR. COUILLARD:  I still don't -- we still maintain Toronto Hydro - and I maintain that - we did not over-earn in 2004.  And once again, I would like to mention that these numbers have not been normalized for anything like weather or accounting or one-time entry or -- this is purely out of our financial statements, our audited financial statements.  And it is related to PBR regime and not a cost-recovery type regime. 


MR. WARREN:  Now, as I understood the evidence that was given by the first panel on the second day, and it appears volume 2 of the transcript, page 5.  This is an answer -- or sorry, in the examination in-chief Mr. O'Brien said on page 5, beginning at line 12, talking about the utility amalgamations that took place, and he said: 

“Cost reductions through the reductions of overlapping functions in staff were an obvious, and the opportunity
most utilities took advantage of.  Efficiency increases resulting in the sharing of services and staff among the members of Toronto Hydro corporate family, subject to the Board's Affiliated Relationship Code and ongoing work to achieve further savings from the consolidation of the control room's for the five 



legacy utilities.” 


Now, I don't see anywhere in the evidence in this application about the -- beyond that, of the extent of the savings achieved as a result it have amalgamation.  Do you have a figure for that, sir?   


MR. COUILLARD:  If you look at our financial statements in 1999, operating expense for the first six months – well, there were six months only in 1999, obviously, because the company got incorporated six months into the year.  The total operating expense for these six months was $92 million.  And I wouldn’t subject that simplistically we should multiply that by two to arrive to a 12-month number.  But if you were to do that, you’ll be around $185 million operating expense.  The company had 2500 employees at the time.  


Now the company has approximately 1600 employees, probably more like 1550 on the LDC, the distribution company, with shared services included, and our operating expense for 2006 is $169 million.  


MR. WARREN:  The conclusion I'm to draw from that, Mr. Couillard, is what? 


MR. COUILLARD:  There has been significant cost reduction considering CPI increased since 1999.  If you were to try to actualize a 1999 number to a 2000 number, you would find Toronto Hydro had reduced costs significantly, probably in the area of $30 to $40 million. 


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, $30 to $40 million?  And is that a total number over the last five years, or is that an annual figure?


MR. COUILLARD:  That would be a comparison.  Once again, if you were to annualize the ‘99 number and consider CPI over that period of time.  And it is subject to calculation check.  I haven't factored any CPI, Mr. Chair on this calculation.


What I can say is that we had $92 million operating expense for six months in 1999.  Annualize that, multiply that by two and it’s 185.  We're currently at about 170, 169 at this time. 


MR. KAISER:  What was the operating expense for 2000 when we had the first normal year?


MR. COUILLARD:  About $160 million.  And once again, if we compound CPI on this, we would have a significant -- we would see a decrease.  And that also does not include any work that we've done to improve reliability, safety and services to our customer.  


MR. WARREN:  You see, Mr. Couillard, where I come from on this question is that in the ordinary case in the gas utility applications of Enbridge and Union, there is detailed evidence about the nature and extent of the savings that they are able to achieve for the ratepayers year over year over year, set out in page after page of evidence, the kind of efficiency initiatives that they are taking and the kind of savings, and whether those savings can be sustained over time. 


When I look your pre‑filed evidence, I don't see a single line with respect to that.  What I've got, with respect, Mr. Couillard, is a kind of back-of-the-envelope calculation where I subtract two numbers, but I don't see any evidence, anything in the pre‑filed evidence, about where you're saving money and where you are likely to save money in the future.  Am I right about that, Mr. Couillard?  It's just not there?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, I do not agree with your statements.  We've provided in our application a detailed variance analysis since 2002, and we've also forward -- after interrogatories, we received, provided a detailed variance of analysis from 2004 to 2006.


MR. WARREN:  The variance analysis, as I understand them, as they appeared in largely ‑‑ sorry, to some extent in response to interrogatories, is an explanation for why cost of increase in various categories.  Is that a fair summary of what those variance analyses are?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, it just refers costs from year over year, so in some areas it will discuss about why costs have increased, but it also will talk about some mitigating factors in some other areas.


MR. WARREN:  I come back to my question.  Can you point me to the evidence which shows where you are achieving saving now and where you are planning to achieve savings in the future?  I can't find it in the evidence, Mr. Couillard, but I'm happy to have you point me to it.  Sorry, and can I -- gentlemen, just in fairness to you, the other context for my question is if you turn could up an interrogatory response which has been marked as J1.2.  This is the budget process undertaking.  It was elicited in response to a question.


If I look at page 2 of that document ‑‑ does the Board have it?  No?


MR. KAISER:  I'm sure it's here somewhere.


MS. SPOEL:  Number, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  J1.2.  It's headed "Response to Undertaking U1.2."  It's a copy of ‑‑ I can't remember what you call them.


MS. SPOEL:  It's J2.2, I think.


MR. WARREN:  Is it J2.3?


MR. KAISER:  The PowerPoint, yes.


MR. WARREN:  I've just dated myself when I can't remember the names of those little things that appear on the screen and people point to.  That's what it is, page 2 of the PowerPoint presentation under the heading "Key Dates For Planning".  Go down to the fourth box:

"VPs complete budget presentation templates including additional savings opportunities and impacts."


Now, I conclude from that, Mr. Couillard, perhaps wrongly, that as part of the budget process the VPs are directed to identify the savings -- the areas where savings are going to be ‑‑ indeed additional saving opportunities and what the impacts are.  Am I right in reading that?  That is what it is about?


MR. COUILLARD:  That is part of our budget process.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I come back to my question, gentlemen.  When I look through the evidence, can you show me where it is, for the 2006 rate year, there is evidence of the savings that you're going to achieve, whether they are sustainable, the areas they are going to be achieved in and what the rate impact is?  Where do I find that?


MR. COCHRANE:  You will not find an actual rate impact, but you will find the increases and decreases in distribution expenses in appendix 6A of the pre‑filed evidence, tab A.


MR. WARREN:  Just give me a moment and I'll turn that up.  It's 6?


MR. COCHRANE:  And I would like to complete my answer, Mr. Warren.


MR. WARREN:  Absolutely.  I don't mean to interfere.  I just want to get the document.


MR. COCHRANE:  I'll give you a chance to pull up that record.


MR. WARREN:  Tab 6A?


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, pre‑filed evidence, under 6A.  Further to that, for the years 2004 to 2006, in our interrogatory responses -- I'm not sure which tab this is.  It's interrogatories from VECC, and it's the response to Interrogatory No. 21.


MR. WARREN:  During the period ‑‑ thank you for that answer, Mr. Cochrane.  During the period, Mr. Couillard, from 2000, roughly the date of the amalgamation -- in the area of 1999, 2000, that's when the amalgamation process took place; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  It started in 1998.


MR. WARREN:  Now, in that period, have the rates which have been charged to Toronto Hydro's ratepayers, the residential ratepayers, have they gone down?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Two very important items have changed since the time of amalgamation.  After that, we've had the rate of ‑‑ market‑based rate of return has been added to the rates, as well as the PILs regime, and these two factors have added significantly to the rates, but those -- with those two factors, rates have definitely gone up.


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, Mr. Zebrowski, I didn't catch the last part of your answer.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  The rates have gone up since the time of amalgamation.


MR. WARREN:  With the addition of those two factors, if we leave those factors aside, have the base rates which were charged by Toronto Hydro for distribution gone down in the period from, let's say, 2000 to date?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Well, the distribution rates incorporate those two factors.


MR. WARREN:  So they haven't gone down.  They have gone up as a result of those two factors?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Primarily, that's right.


MR. WARREN:  So would I be wrong in concluding that the $30- to $40 million achieved as a result of amalgamation, that the savings achieved have not been passed on to ratepayers in the form of lower rates; is that fair?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, that's not fair.  The savings from amalgamation have been also incorporated into the rate structure.  That is part of our revenue requirement, as we put it forward to the Board now.


MR. WARREN:  Now, as I understand the testimony of Mr. O'Brien and Mr. Haines the other day, you're facing the need to invest in aging plant.  This appears at page 44 of the transcript of volume 2 of the hearing, but I take it -- I don't think you need to turn it up.  I think we can agree that that is the position of Toronto Hydro.  You need to invest in aging plant; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, during the course of the last several years as you were paying dividends to your shareholder, was any consideration given to, instead of paying those dividends to the shareholder, to investing in the aging plant, which I take it you've known about for some time?


MR. COUILLARD:  What we have not done, as mentioned in panel 1, we have not done a full in-depth analysis of what actually -- where we need to invest in our plant and how the investment will take place.  I believe that over the years, when we looked at - and we're still looking at - the amount of cash that is generated from operations, that we have been able and prudent in paying our dividend to our shareholder.


MR. WARREN:  My question was a narrow one, Mr. Couillard.  Rather than paying those generous dividends to your shareholder, was any consideration given to, instead, investing that money in what you've identified as a long‑term, long-standing concern about aging plant?


MR. COUILLARD:  Most of the dividend that we've paid to our shareholder - and you definitely see a significant increase in the last two to three years - comes from our unregulated business, the retail business.  So for us, the investment in this business was done knowingly from a shareholder perspective with significant return in mind -- well, with return going back to the shareholder.  


Looking at our -- we've consistently looked at our plan in looking at future cash requirement, and consideration was always given cash and letter it should go in prudent investment.  And I believe we've achieved our duties in this regard. 


MR. WARREN:  Well, I don’t think there is anything magic in my analysis of this, Mr. Couillard.  I look at, I guess as a layperson with some surprise, that you don't, as I understand, have a plan for capital investment in the long term.  That is what Mr. O'Brien said the other day; is that right?   


MR. COUILLARD:  I would refer to panel 3 to answer the fully detailed the question of the plan, per se. 


MR. WARREN:  There is on a plan, as I understand the evidence the other day.  Am I wrong about that?   


MR. COUILLARD:  We are currently working on doing a full, detailed analysis of what will be the future requirement, and I would leave panel 3 to provide you with detail on this. 


MR. WARREN:  Well, Mr. Couillard, you are the finance guy, you are the guy who is going to have to approve the amount.  Would I be fair in assuming, in light of what you've been telling the Board about the long-standing problems and aging plant, that we are looking the need for a substantial capital investment over the next several years to replace that aging plant?  Is that not a fair assumption on my part?


MR. COUILLARD:  These are preliminary numbers.  As I said, as prudent financial managers, what suggested to us is to go into detailed analysis to make sure where we need to investment in this plan and how we are planning to invest, and doing some comparison between the costs of maintenance versus the cost of replacement capital.  And this is what our operation team is currently working on to provide you with a more detailed –- 


MR. WARREN:  What's the high level number or estimate of what it's going to take you to replace that aging plant?


MR. COUILLARD:  It's preliminary right now and I can't really speak to preliminary numbers.  I think it would be speculative of me to say any number.  And the reason for that is that this number has been a bit of a moving target over the last like six months.  So I would to refer panel 3 to answer more questions on this. 


MR. WARREN:  So I be fair in assuming, Mr. Couillard, that the burden of that investment, the cost of that investment is going to fall on the ratepayers of the City of Toronto –- sorry, of Toronto Hydro; is that fair?  They are going to have to pay for it, right, through their rates?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, I think the capital investment will likely be paid through rates, but it's also to the benefit of the customers.  There's a reason we're updating the plant here, it is to provide improved service and reliability to our customer and to make sure that people in Toronto maintain these high levels of standards we've had over the years. 


MR. WARREN:  I take that, Mr. Couillard.  But my point is, had Toronto Hydro, rather than sitting there watching this plant age with the concern which Mr. O'Brien said was a long-standing one with aging plant, had they taken some of those generous dividends and invested it in what they recognized was an aging plant, that the long-term rate implications for Toronto Hydro's ratepayers would have been less; is that not fair?   


MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Warren, maybe I could just add some colour to this. 


MR. WARREN:  Just before you do that, am I right in my assumption that if you had taken the dividends, you had invested in replacing the aging plant over the last three four years, that the long-term impact on ratepayers would have been less; is that not fair?   


MR. COUILLARD:  We would have higher rates already if that would have been the case, because the capital investment would have been put in there.  I think it's wrong to think that the some of the results on our affiliate business should have been used in order to invest in the LDC plant. 


MR. SARDANA:  And Mr. Warren just to add --


MR. WARREN:  I interrupted you.  You wanted to add something.  Please, go ahead. 


MR. SARDANA:   I think it’s also important not to lose sight of where we've come from since amalgamation.  If you remember, we had this small, little thing called market opening which had everyone’s eye on that big ball.  And there was a huge amount of effort devoted to that and a huge amount of capital spent on that, and I mean physical capital, human capital, et cetera.  So you know, hindsight obviously is everything here, but it is important not to lose sight of where we've come from.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Couillard, can I just understand better your last answer.  


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. KAISER:  Yesterday, when Mr. Warren was dealing with this City of Toronto document you recall there was that special dividend of 30 million.


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  That was for the 2005 year, as I recall, and there was another 38 million, which I guess was the regular dividend. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Correct. 


MR. KAISER:  So in 2005 there was 68 million.  I thought, up until recently, when you changed the 40 percent -- 50 percent was the dividend based on consolidated income. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, it is. 


MR. KAISER:  Prior to that, the dividend was strictly based on the regulated income; wasn’t it?  The 40 percent. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Correct. 


MR. KAISER:  So this payment out of unregulated income, that's really just the 30 million. 


MR. COUILLARD:  No, because we’ve also -- in the 2004 -- the 2004 earnings were used for 2005 payment, the dividend policy was changed to incorporate a portion of the consolidated for the payment that was made at the.  And the extra $30 million was done in order to pay from -– it was one of the first instalments that we paid from our unregulated business, Mr. Chair. 


MR. KAISER:  I guess I'm just trying to understand.  Prior to this ‘05, which I thought was the year in which your dividend payment policy changed.  


MR. COUILLARD:  Just a second.  The 2004 payment we did a true up as well.  It was paid in 2005 but the number that was related to the year, the fiscal year 2004, included the 10 percent more for the unregulated business.  But the payment happened in 2005.  I know it's a bit confusing. 


MR. KAISER:  The 30 million that we see over and above the other dividends, is that the extent of the dividend payment relating to the unregulated business or are there other dividends relating to the unregulated business?   


MR. COUILLARD:  On the $38 million, the payment for 2005, you would have related to unregulated business in there as well, because it paid in 2005. 


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  


MR. WARREN:  Could we get a calculation, Mr. Couillard -- let me get back chronologically.  When was the first year in which Toronto Hydro Corporation paid a dividend to its shareholder?  


MR. COUILLARD:  2003. 


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me sir for 2003, 2004, 2005, the total amount of the dividends paid by Toronto Hydro Corporation to its shareholder, and of those can you break out the amount that's attributable to revenue from Toronto Hydro Electric System.  Is that possible to do, Mr. Couillard?   


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes it's possible. 


MR. WARREN:  Can I get an undertaking for that please. 


MR. MILLAR:  J4.2

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.2:  TO PROVIDE THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF DIVIDENDS PAID BY TORONTO HYDRO CORPORATION TO ITS SHAREHOLDER, BREAKING OUT WHAT IS ATTRIBUTABLE TO REVENUE FROM TORONTY HYDRO ELECTRIC SYSTEM, FOR THE YEARS 2003, 2004 AND 2005.

MR. KAISER:   What was the ’03 number, was that five million?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, $5 million. 


MR. KAISER:  That was all from the regulated. 


MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct. 


MR. KAISER:  Before that it was zero. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Zero. 


MR. WARREN:  And the ’04 number was – 


MR. COUILLARD:  $49.2 million. 


MR. KAISER:  That's the number that's in your annual report. 


MR. COUILLARD:  I believe so. 


MR. KAISER:  That was based on consolidated revenue, that was 50 percent of the consolidated revenue which would include unregulated revenue. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Correct. 


MR. KAISER:  So there was some ‘04 dividend that related to unregulated revenue, or we you using 40 percent or 50 percent in ’04?  


MR. COUILLARD:  I want to check that, Mr. Chair, and get back to you.  I just want to make sure I’m not speculating.


MR. KAISER:  While we're on this, when we had this 2005 number that Mr. Warren dredged up which totals $68 million, and having in mind the 50 percent, does that mean consolidated income was two times $68 million in 2005?


MR. COUILLARD:  No.  


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, the 68 million comes from a City of Toronto number which these folks said they don't know where those numbers came from.  They assume it is from their financial projections.  I don't know that 68 million represents all that is going to be paid in 2005.  There may be more.  Is that fair, Mr. Couillard?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, we've paid all our 2005 number. 


MR. KAISER:  That's what I understand.  


MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Chair, would it be helpful if I tell you what the consolidated net income was for 2004?


MR. KAISER:  No, I want to know if two times 68 million equals the consolidated net income for 2005.  Is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Once again, I'm not in a position to speculate on our 2005 financial results but –


MR. KAISER:  I’m not speculating.  You have said that 68 million in dividends you’re paying out, and 50 percent pay out was your policy. 


MR. COUILLARD:  It is not, because $30 million of that dividend paid in ’05 was a one-time special not related to net income. 


MR. KAISER:  Oh, I didn't understand that.  What was it related to?


MR. COUILLARD:  It was a special dividend paid to the City in relation to unregulated business.   We had a significant amount of cash sitting in our unregulated business due to this wholesale contract, and we paid --


MR. KAISER:  So it didn't follow this 50 percent of payout of consolidated revenue rule?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, it was over and above.


MR. KAISER:  I missed that.  Thanks.


MR. WARREN:  What are the rules, if any, Mr. Couillard, in the -- the unregulated business has a $30 million -- I take it that is a one-time gain; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  The $30 million?


MR. WARRENT:  Yes.


MR. COUILLARD:  This was gain related to some of our business on the unregulated side.  I wouldn't say it's a one-time gain, but it is related to the business that we are currently winding down, so this is obviously not something that will be recurring for us.


MR. KAISER:  What's the meaning of this 50 percent rule, if you can avoid it?  If this dividend policy, or whatever this direction we had from the shareholder, had this 50 percent rule, where does it say in that direction you can have special dividends when the city would like them?  The 50 percent rule applied to consolidated revenue, which included unregulated revenue, I thought.


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  You went from 40 percent of regulated to 50 percent of consolidated?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  And yet somehow this 30 million pops up over and above that?


MR. COUILLARD:  The board of director Toronto Hydro always have the discretion to declare more or higher or lower dividend if it feels that it's in the interest of the company.  Their fiduciary responsibility does not limit to the shareholder.  It also involved the bondholders in the company.


MR. KAISER:  What reliance can we place on this rule if they decide in their discretion they are going to top it up by 30 million in any year?


MR. COUILLARD:  The board fiduciary responsibility ‑‑ we have gone through a lot of work to educate our board member on the impact that this could have on them.  We've all seen some of these financial scandals into the world, and the board, I can tell you that when dividend discussion come along in our board of directors meeting, there's always ‑‑ there is always lots of caution around declaring dividend, because the board is also conscious of the other interest, i.e., the bondholder, Toronto Hydro Corporation.


So they will not endanger the financial viability of the company in order to pay more dividends to the city.  That's been explained several times.  We had outside consulting coming and talking to our board and educating them in this matter.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. WARREN:  What are the constraints, Mr. Couillard, within Toronto Hydro Corporation on what you can do with the revenue that's obtained from the unregulated entities?  What I mean by that is that, faced with 30 million bucks in your pocket in the unregulated entity, is there a requirement that that be paid out as a dividend, or could that money be, for example, invested in THESL?


MR. COUILLARD:  If you relate to the shareholder direction, in a moment, just to go to the section, please -- I just need a moment.


MR. WARREN:  That, for the record, is Exhibit J3.9; is that right?


MR. SARDANA:  Correct.


MR. COUILLARD:  In the shareholder direction, the principal, which is section 2.3, section A reads:

"The business is integral to the well being and the infrastructure of the City of Toronto.  The corporation recognizes that is in the best interests of Toronto Hydro and the community of stakeholders whom the business affects that Toronto Hydro conducts its affairs on a commercially-prudent basis."


And I will stop there at this point.  Basically, what this mean is that if we -- you know, if we have excess cash or if we -- we could not go and decided to spend and invest in something that will endanger the corporation, or -- so we have to consider all things being equal and make a prudent financial decision on what we can do or what we want to do with this money.  


So if the board decides that at this point a $30 million dividend to the city, which was the case in the retail side in 2005, is not -- is commercially prudent to do, then it will agree to do.  In that case, we did agree that it was prudent to do something like that.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Couillard, I asked a slightly different question.  My question is:  Is there a constraint on your taking the $30 million and, for example, investing it in the aging infrastructure of THESL?  And I take it the answer to my question is:  There is no constraint, that you have a choice, as long as it doesn't have an adverse effect on Toronto Hydro Corporation.  You can pay it out as a dividend or, for example, you could investment in replacing that aging plant.  Am I right?


MR. COUILLARD:  To narrow your question, as long as Toronto Hydro operates on a commercially-prudent basis, which is stated in section 2.3, then we can decide what we want to do with excess cash.


MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Warren, may I interrupt you?  Let's also just take that down to its logical path.  So if an unregulated business invests in the distribution company, how would that take place?  Is it a share ownership, because the City of Toronto owns all the shares -- or the Toronto Hydro Corporation owns all the shares of THESL.  


So there are some nuances that we're missing here, in that it's not a, you know, straightforward transfer of assets.


MR. WARREN:  Well, no lawyer is in the nuance business, Mr. Sardana.  That's sort of built into our DNA, but my question is:  Leaving that ‑‑ leaving those -- my question really went to those nuances.  What are the constraints?  And you are telling me that you can't take the $30 million and invest it, or it's a little tricky to do that?  


Are there regulatory constraints, for example, that would preclude Toronto Hydro Corporation from taking the $30 million and saying, We have to fix this aging plant?  That's what I want to know, Mr. Sardana, and if you can give me the answer, terrific.  What is the answer?   


MR. SARDANA:  No, there aren't any constraints with that framework.


MR. COUILLARD:  It would be increasing, obviously, interest costs and there would be other issues arising from inter-company notes, for example.


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me this, that before the $30 million dividend was paid to the City of Toronto, was any consideration given, Toronto Hydro Corporation, to investing the $30 million in this aging plant?


MR. COUILLARD:  Toronto Hydro, when we had these discussions regarding the $30 million, looked at proformas, financials with our board of what will this do on the overall cash position in the company.  Obviously, if you look at our overall potential future investment plan, yes, this was considered.


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, it was considered?


MR. COUILLARD:  It was part of the overall consideration.


MR. WARREN:  I want to turn to a different topic, and that's the topic of shared services, but before I get to that, I want, if I can, panel, to understand, to drill down somewhat on the corporate structure of Toronto Hydro Corporation.  And I'm not sure the easiest way to get at it, but I'm going to suggest that you might turn up an exhibit in this proceeding, which is an interrogatory response to a VECC interrogatory.  


For the record, it's section E, tab 2, schedule 7, an 8-page document.


MR. COCHRANE:  Which interrogatory number?


MR. WARREN:  It's VECC Interrogatory No. 7, and it's section E, tab 2, schedule 7.  What I'm trying to sort out, so that you understand directionally what I want to get to, is who works for whom and who is paid by whom.  Now, the first place I want to start is ‑‑ I'm not sure where I want to start.  


Let's start with the chart which appears on page 3 of 8.  Now, that's the Toronto Hydro Group of Companies.  And as I understand one of the exhibits - and it's the exhibit that deals with compensation levels that Mr. Couillard was addressing, in part, yesterday - that there are five executives.  Gentlemen, there are five executives who are paid by ‑‑ sorry, executives of THESL; is that right? 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, there is.


MR. WARREN:  Now, on this flowchart or org chart that we have here, can you tell me which of the folks on here are the five executives of THESL?   


MR. COUILLARD:   Yes.  James Black. 


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, go ahead, please.  


MR. COUILLARD:  Susan Davidson, Bob King. 


MR. WARREN:  Yes, okay? 


MR. COUILLARD:  Joe Bailey, and Peter D’Uva who is now the President of -- is the President also of Toronto Hydro Street Lighting.  He was paid by THESL the moment these charts were put together, and who spends majority of his time leading the Smart Meter Initiatives for Toronto Hydro Electric System Limited. 


MR. WARREN:  Of the five folks we've just identified with -- I guess four of the five, as I now understand it, devote 100 percent of their time to THESL; is that correct?


MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct. 


MR. WARREN:  And they are paid by THESL; is that correct?   


MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct. 


MR. WARREN:  Now, the fifth, Mr. D’Uva, if I've pronounced his name correctly. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. D’Uva. 


MR. WARREN:  Mr. D’Uva, thank you.  Mr. D’Uva, how much of his time is THESL and how much of his time is Street Lighting?   


MR. COUILLARD:  In 2005, or in 2004, let's start with 2004 because it's the reference, probably very little of his time was devoted to street lighting because our Street Lighting business was small and Mr. D’Uva was in charge of all the customer care function at Toronto Hydro Electric System Limited.  So the vast majority, somewhere in the high 90 percent would be where his time is spent.  


If we look at 2005, especially in the second portion of 2005, Mr. D’Uva devoted a significant portion of his time working on negotiating the Street Lighting deals.  However, during the first six months of the year, the situation had not really changed.  And so probably in that year, you could make the argument 75 percent of his time was devoted Electric System Limited, and probably 25 percent -- you know, I would need to have more discussion with Mr. D’Uva to confirm these numbers.  


Moving forward in 2006, Mr. D’Uva has significant responsibility in the smart meter area, and we believe he would spend probably up to 70 percent of his time working, 70 or 75, working for the distribution company and probably 25 on the Street Lighting.  This reflects the incremental work.  Mr. D’Uva is not involved in the day-to-day management of our Street Lighting business.  We have a general manager in this company. 


MR. WARREN:   Mr. D’Uva’s salary in 2005 was paid by whom?


MR. COUILLARD:  It was paid by THESL. 


MR. WARREN:  100 percent of his salary was paid by THESL though only 75 percent of his time was on THESL work; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct. 


MR. WARREN:  I apologize for this, I should know this.  My ignorance is vast.  There is a separate corporation for Street Lighting; is there not?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, there is. 


MR. WARREN:  Does it have employees, the separate corporation?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, it does. 


MR. WARREN:  How many employees does it have?


MR. COUILLARD:  Approximately 34, 35. 


MR. WARREN:  If I'm an employee of Street Lighting and I get my bi-weekly, or monthly, or whatever it is paycheque, that cheque is issued by Toronto Hydro Lighting?


MR. COUILLARD:  Street Lighting. 


MR. WARREN:  So am I correct that, to the extent of 25 percent of Mr. D’Uva’s salary, that was salary that was, in effect, subsidized by the THESL ratepayers.  Fair?   


MR. COUILLARD:  The point I would like to make here is that we -- if not, like, in 2005 we are in the process of doing the true up of our shared services costs in conjunction with finalizing our 2005 financial results.  So that should be taken care of in reclass, in accounting methodology.  And it should be reflected in the 2006 service agreement between Street Lighting and THESL that a portion of Mr. D’Uva’s salary would be included. 


MR. WARREN:  Now, let's go to the other folks on this org chart.  And we'll start at the top.  Mr. O'Brien, Mr. O'Brien devotes a portion of his time to all of the subsidiaries; is that fair?   


MR. COUILLARD:  A very small portion of is time is dedicated to the subsidiaries.  Well, sorry.  A large portion of his time is dedicated to the distribution company, and a small portion of his time is dedicated to the competitive regulatory business -- unregulated business. 


MR. WARREN:  So Mr. O'Brien would be, what, 90 percent THESL?


MR. COUILLARD:  Significantly higher. 


MR. WARREN:  99 percent THESL?


MR. COUILLARD:  I'd settle for 97. 


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  97 percent THESL.  And his salary is paid by whom?


MR. COUILLARD:  Toronto Hydro Corporation. 


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Haines.  Who does he work for?


MR. COUILLARD:  He works for Mr. O'Brien.  Sorry, who pays his salary?   


MR. WARREN:  His duties would be devoted to THESL or the unregulated subsidiaries?  That’s what I mean by “Who does he work for.”


MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry. 


MR. WARREN:  You all work for Mr. O'Brien in some sense; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. WARREN:  Now that we’re past that hump, let’s get to the reality of it.  Sorry, get past the reality and get to the form of it.  Mr. Haines, does he likewise devote 97 percent of his time to THESL?   


MR. COUILLARD:  Probably, yes. 


MR. WARREN:  To save the time, which passes much like a root canal for this kind of cross-examination, if I look at all of the folks on this org chart, all the rest of them we haven't crossed off yet, would 97 percent of their time be devoted to THESL?   


MR. COUILLARD:  You know, we probably -- it would be certainly close to this range.  Most of our operations are related to THESL.  So could I say, Do I ever do a calculation of my time?  Do I keep logs and spend half an hour a day taking notes of how many hours I spend on every company Mr. Chair?  I do not.  I don't think it would be efficient.  


When we looked at the overall allocation of time of everybody, this would be certainly in this range. 


MR. WARREN:   So if the Board looks at this org chart, we've got four folks who are devoting 100 percent of their time to THESL.  We have one person, Mr. D’Uva, who is devoting 75 percent of his time to THESL, and the balance of these people, allowing for a certain imprecision in the calculation, are in the neighbourhood of 95, 96, 97 percent of the time at THESL; is that fair?


MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Warren, I would exclude people like David Dobbin, who is the President of Toronto Hydro Telecom.  The salary of Mr. Dobbin is directly paid by Telecom. 


MR. WARREN:   Is he 100 percent on Telecom?


MR. COUILLARD:  Absolutely.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.


MR. COUILLARD:  I would also exclude the salary of Chris Tyrell, who is directly employed by Toronto Hydro Energy Services and gets pays 100 percent by Toronto Hydro Energy Services.  


MR. WARREN:  Anybody else?   


MR. COUILLARD:  No. 


MR. WARREN:  The rest of them high nineties, THESL.  Paid entirely by THESL or paid only 97 percent by THESL. 


MR. COUILLARD:   If they are -- if they are directly employee of THESL, like Mr. Black, Ms. Davidson, Mr. King and Mr. Bailey and many Mr. D’Uva, they would be paid hundred percent by THESL.  And if they are paid by corporate, not everybody gets paid hundred percent, obviously, but a full paycheque, 97 percent of their time or their salary would be allocated to THESL through our shared services allocation for the executives that are on our corporate structure. 


MR. WARREN:  Let's take, just as a random example, Dr. Richard Lu.  He is paid, am I right, by Toronto Hydro Corporation.  Is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct. 


MR. WARREN:  And some - is it 97 percent - of his time is THESL and so 97 percent of his salary benefits and bonuses are allocated to THESL.  Is that the way it works?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, it is.  


MR. COCHRANE:  Can we just have a moment, Mr. Warren?   


MR. WARREN:  Absolutely.  


MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, Mr. Warren.  


MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now, I want to turn from that to the narrow question that was addressed in part yesterday by Mr. Millar when he talked about the service level agreements, the SLAs.  Mr. Millar was talking about the negotiation of the service-level agreement, and, as I understood it, the negotiations -- the example he was using, I think it was SLA number 9 or 10.  I don't remember exactly.  But a service-level agreement between THESL and one of the other affiliates was being negotiated on behalf of THESL by Mr. Black; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  I just need to get ‑‑ pull the agreement.


Sorry, I don't remember the agreement by numbers.  The one you are referring to, yes, it is signed by Jim Black and by myself.


MR. WARREN:  You were negotiating on whose behalf?


MR. COUILLARD:  Toronto Hydro Corporation.


MR. WARREN:  Now, 97 percent of your salary, as I understand it, Mr. Couillard, is attributable or assigned to THESL; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  My salary is part of a pool, and the way we all allocate our shared services, the methodology from an executive perspective, the salaries are put into a pool and there's very few -- it represents a very small amount on the overall total shared services.  


The portion of my salary that gets into the pool, and if the pool is allocated at 97 percent, which is the case, the answer to your question is, yes, but the caveat I want to make here is not all shared services are allocated at 97 percent.


MR. WARREN:  But my point, I guess, is a different one, Mr. Couillard, and I'm trying to imagine negotiating table on which, on the one side, you've got Mr. Black, who is paid 100 percent by THESL, and you've got Mr. Couillard on the other side, 97 percent of whose salary is paid by THESL.  I'm going to suggest to you, sir, that that's just a shade below the measurable threshold of an arm's-length negotiation.  Is that not fair, sir?


MR. COUILLARD:  We've never ‑‑ we've never took the position that these were arm's-length transaction.  I think I have mentioned yesterday, when I talked about our budget process, how we're actually coming to these numbers.  There's no, like, negotiation when myself -- when Jim Black and myself decide to sit down one morning and let's negotiate the shared services today and let's try to take as much at each other.  


The process is that both of us are involved in the review of all the different department and what they bring to the table and the type of service.  And the service that are allocated are allocated at cost, and we have some measures in place to make sure that the costs that are charged to the distribution company are as low as the company can provide them.


MR. WARREN:  But as I understood your responses to Mr. Millar yesterday, I think you said that you were -- when you're negotiating on behalf of the corporation, are very tough-minded and you are prepared to go to the courts if you don't get the relief you are getting from ‑‑ you don't get the deal you want from Mr. Black.  Did I misunderstand those answers?


MR. COUILLARD:  Definitely.  Sorry, you've misunderstood.  I've never said that we are willing to go to court.  I think we are basically doing these agreements, we are doing them and reviewing these costs.  As I mentioned, these are not arm's-length transactions.  We are reviewing these costs together, and we're making sure that the costs that are allocated to the distribution company are fair and as low as possible.


MR. WARREN:  Am I right, though, in concluding -- am I right, though, in my understanding that both you and Mr. Black have a fiduciary obligation to advance to achieve the best interest of Toronto Hydro Corporation and of its shareholder, the City of Toronto?  You both have the same interest; is that not fair?


MR. COUILLARD:  Can you just repeat that, please?


MR. WARREN:  You and Mr. Black, am I right in concluding that you and Mr. Black have the same ‑‑ you have a shared fiduciary obligation to Toronto Hydro Corporation and, through it, to its shareholder; is that not fair?


MR. COUILLARD:  Our obligation or our fiduciary responsibilities are not only related to return or to profit.  I mean, if you read the shareholder direction carefully, you would see that there is a significant amount of provision in there that talks about level of service and not ‑‑ and providing the interests of the customer or services.  


So, yes, we are obviously -- our fiduciary responsibilities are to the board, and then the board has fiduciary responsibility to the City of Toronto.


MR. WARREN:  If you could turn up, please, your pre‑filed evidence at tab 6.  In particular, sir, I would like to take you to 6.2.7, which appears on pages 16 and following of that document.  6.2.7 is under the heading "Distribution Expenses Paid to Affiliates".


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, Mr. Warren.


MR. WARREN:  Now, 6.2.7, there are two pages and a bit of a description of the affiliate transactions and the amounts that are paid.  You then -- the document then refers to 6.8 ‑‑ sorry, 6‑8, which is a schedule to it, which contains the distribution expenses paid to affiliates, the exact amount.  And 6.9, we have a high-level description or the categories of expenses, correct, categories of activities for which they're paid; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Am I right, panel, that in the pre‑filed evidence of THESL in this case that those four pages and a bit are all of the pre‑filed evidence that's been filed with respect to shared services?  Am I right?


MR. COUILLARD:  We believe it's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, had not been for the diligence of -- I think it may have been Mr. Shepherd's client or ‑‑ sorry, am I right that in the pre‑filed evidence there is no description, no detailed description, of exactly what the services are that THESL obtains and why THESL has to get them from Toronto Hydro Corporation?  Am I right about that?


MR. COUILLARD:  There is high-level description of the services in the pre‑filed evidence, and then following in interrogatories that we receive, and I believe it is from VECC - I could be wrong - we provide all these ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  As a result of the diligence of either VECC or Mr. Shepherd's client or both, we got the service-level agreements; correct?


MR. COCHRANE:  That's correct, and I believe that we did follow the guidelines from the Board in terms of the pre‑filed evidence.  We met those requirements.


MR. WARREN:  These are the guidelines for the historic test year filing; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  And as we mentioned earlier, we have relied on the distribution rate handbook in providing our evidence, and therefore that's why these were not filed originally.


MR. WARREN:  We are in agreement that this is a forward test year filing; correct?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  What I wanted to contrast this with first, sir, would you be familiar at any level at all with the pre‑filed evidence filed by Hydro One Networks in their forward test year filing?


MR. COUILLARD:  No.


MR. WARREN:  Would you have any reason to disagree with me that Hydro One Networks filed an 80-page description, line by line, of all of the services that they receive from affiliates and the cost of those services; in other words, an 80-page justification for the amount that's being charged?  Any reason to disagree with me on that?


MR. COUILLARD:  I haven't seen the Hydro One filing.


MR. WARREN:  And would you have any reason to disagree with me that they filed an expert's report on the allocation methodology which they used?  Any reason to disagree with that?


MR. COUILLARD:  Our understanding, and subject to check on the Hydro One evidence, this allocation methodology was related to transmission and distribution.


MR. WARREN:  It's for shared services; is that not fair?


MR. COUILLARD:  Once again --


MR. WARREN:  You don't know.  You haven't read it.  But certainly there is nothing in your evidence, no independent assessment, of the propriety of your allocation methodology; fair enough?


MR. COUILLARD:  I disagree.  I think that we've provided some description of our services in our evidence and we believe that in these service are appropriate.


MR. WARREN:  My question was a narrow one, Mr. Couillard.  I'm asking you, do you agree there is no independent assessment of the correctness or the propriety of your allocation methodology?


MR. COUILLARD:  By independent, do you mean an external consulting report?   


MR. WARREN:  Yes. 


MR. COUILLARD:  No, there is not. 


MR. WARREN:  Okay. Am I right in, and I can't remember in the volumes of material we have, am I right that your conclusion, and I believe it's in one of the VECC interrogatories, and if necessary I can find it at the break, that essentially what you are saying to the Board is this is our best judgement about the fair way to allocated costs.  Trust us.  


Is that not a fair summary of what your position is?   


MR. COUILLARD:   I don't believe this is what we're saying.  I think what we've provided in our application is a detailed analysis of our expenses.  We've also had -- I think I mentioned it yesterday, we do some diligent work on measuring ourselves and looking at the level of our expenditures from period to period.  We also have a very rigorous process for all the services that are bought over the companies, including bought by shared services and allocated to THESL.  


We've not undertook the full cost sharing allocation methodology.  And the one of the reason for this is we have not got to this yet.  We've been busy getting cutting costs, making our operation as efficient as possible, and to this point, being able to provide the customer with a rate decrease in this application, Mr. Warren.  


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Zebrowski, just in this context can I turn to you?  As I understood the evidence given yesterday, included in your responsibilities is to monitor regulatory developments in this province; is that correct?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That is correct. 


MR. WARREN:  And in the course of monitoring those regulatory developments, would you have occasion to read the decisions of this regulator in respect of, for example, the gas utilities?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  If I have the time available and depending on the relevance of the particular matter at hand for the Board, yes. 


MR. WARREN:  Well, the reason I ask the question, Mr. Zebrowski, is that going back as far as – and it goes back even further than this - certainly to 2002 forward, there have been a number of decisions by this Board, chiefly for Enbridge Gas Distribution but also for Union, that have dealt with the question of how the Board looks at outsourcing arrangements with affiliates and the standard of proof that it requires for the prudence of those.  Would you be familiar with those decisions?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Some of them I am, yes. 


MR. WARREN:  For example, in the case -- this is the decision in the matter of Enbridge Gas Distribution in RP-2001-0032.  A decision in which Member Spoel was also a participant.  The Board in that expressed its concerns about outsourcing arrangements that Enbridge had entered into with affiliates.  And said, among other things, that Enbridge has obligations to look after the best interests of its ratepayers.  Would you be familiar with that decision?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, I am. 


MR. WARREN:  Would you be familiar with the Board's observation with respect to transfer pricing in that decision?  For example, in that decision, paragraph 5.11.30 at page 162, the Board observed: 

“However, when transactions an occur between or among Affiliates, the Board will not presume prudence, and the onus is on the affiliate to establish to the satisfaction of the Board that the transaction is prudent and that the corresponding costs to the utility associated with the transactions are fair.”


Are you familiar with that, Mr. Zebrowski?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  You would have to read that again for 

me.  


MR. WARREN:  Paragraph 5.11.30, page 162:

“However, when transactions an occur between or among Affiliates, the Board will not presume prudence, and the onus is on the affiliate to establish to the satisfaction of the Board that the transaction is prudent and that the corresponding costs to the utility associated with the transactions are fair.”


Are you familiar with that?


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chair, I’m not sure how much the witness can respond to one quote out the context of an entire decision.  I think he can ask whether he is familiar with these types of decisions, but I don't think it's appropriate to ask one specific aspect of a decision, then ask Mr. Zebrowski to decide whether he understands that in the entire context of the whole report.  


MR. KAISER:  I think it's a simple enough question; it’s either yes or no.  Mr. Warren is referring to a standard of proof that the Board applied in a gas case with respect to this inter-corporation transactions, and just a question whether he's familiar with it or not.  He may not be.  


If he’s not, he can say he's not, and that's the end of the matter. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I have read some of those decisions, yes, and I am familiar with some of the decisions made by the Board and the rationale behind those decisions. 


MR. WARREN:  Let me ask you this question:  In the Board’s decision, again in an Enbridge matter, this is the arena in which many of these cases have been argued, in RP-2002-0133 the Board set out in its finding at page 3.14 it's expectations with respect to the need for an independent review of the corporate cost allocation methodology being proposed by Enbridge.  Would you be familiar with that decision?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, I'm not. 


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Zebrowski, let me ask you this:  I'm going to suggest to you, sir, that for the last three years and a bit there has been what amounts to an intense conversation among the regulated gas utilities and the Board and Board Staff and intervenors about how we should assess the prudence of inter-corporate transactions, affiliate relations, cost allocation methodology.  Are you familiar with that conversation?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, I am.  I've been following some of it.  Union Gas also had a case that -- they weren't similar decisions, but it still dealt with shared services and allocation of shared services.  I followed those, yes. 


MR. WARREN:  The reason I ask these questions about this conversation, Mr. Zebrowski, is in light of that, why is it that Toronto Hydro has chosen in this case, in respect of a $51 million expense item, not to provide the kind of evidence that the Board has said in those gas decisions it requires in order to assess the prudence of these affiliate transactions?  Was the decision made to ignore the conversation, not to meet the requirements that have been assessed on others?  Is that right, Mr. Zebrowksi?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Absolutely not true.  We looked at the context of those decisions, and it is an entirely different context.  Enbridge was spinning off number of businesses into affiliate companies which resulted in many different types of inter-affiliate transactions, back to the LDC.  


The corporate structures are much different between the gas companies and Toronto Hydro.  Union, for example, this is a multinational company.  There are costs being assigned from its head office, which is external to Canada even, not even within Ontario.  Toronto Hydro, by comparison, is a very simplified company.  


We have a holding company, Toronto Hydro Corporation.  That company, almost all of its activity is related to the LDC.  It’s all held locally here in Toronto.  It's just not the same situation. 


MR. WARREN:  I’m sorry, Mr. Zebrowski, I thought your answer -- when I asked you the question whether or not you were familiar with the Board's decision in RP-2002-0133 on its expectations for an independent review of a corporate cost allocation methodology, I thought your answer was you weren't familiar with that.  Did I misunderstand you?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Is that the Enbridge decision?


MR. WARREN:  Yes. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm somewhat familiar with it.  I didn't say -- there was something else you asked me I was not familiar with. 


MR. WARREN:  The second Enbridge decision, RP-2002-0133.  A decision issued the 7th of November, 2003.  I asked you -- I thought I asked you whether or not you were familiar with the Board's decision on the requirements for an independent review of a corporate cost allocation methodology.  I thought your answer to me was, I'm not familiar with that decision. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I must have misunderstood it.  What I'm familiar with, there were two key decisions or two key cases dealt with by did Board, one related to Enbridge and its affiliate transactions and the other one was Union Gas and its affiliate transactions of recent -- within the last couple of years.  


MR. WARREN:  Am I right in understanding the answer you gave me was that you have considered those decisions and you believe that the reasoning of the Board in those decisions doesn’t apply to Toronto Hydro; is that right?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I said that the situations are much different between what those gas companies faced and what Toronto Hydro is looking at.  We looked at the application of the Board's rules and the situations that the gas companies were in, and we just felt they were not the same as ours.  


The other element that came into this is the gas Affiliate Relationships Code, which was recently amended by the Board as well.  What they looked at there was holding companies and how holding companies can allocate costs back to the LDC.


And the key differential that was put forward in that particular code is this ability to allocate costs based on a cost level rather than a market-based price.  And that's basically what Toronto Hydro has done, it is exactly that kind of a methodology. 


MR. WARREN:  I had thought I understood Mr. Couillard’s answer a few moments ago to me when he said they hadn't got an independent assessment of the cost allocation methodology yet because they were too busy doing other things.  And I understood from the answer, Mr. Couillard, that you were going to get to it; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  I think you are putting words in my mouth.  I never said we were too busy to do it.  I said we were busy trying to cut costs, trying to find efficiencies.  We've not yet to do a cost allocation and it is something that we could consider in the future as the company matures and as we are moving towards a different type of regulation. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren, would this be a convenient time to take the morning break?


MR. WARREN:  Yes.  Thank you sir.  


MR. KAISER:  20 minutes.  


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 11:13 a.m. 


‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 11:37 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please, be seated.  Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  Panel, just three very brief follow‑up questions on the last broad topic we were talking about.  And, Mr. Zebrowski, in your role as the person in charge of monitoring regulatory affairs in the province, did you provide a report either to the senior management or to the board of directors about the Board's decisions in the gas cases on shared services and cost allocation methodology?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, I don't believe I did.  I'm just thinking if one of my staff might have written up something, but I don't recall anything, no.


MR. WARREN:  Now, Mr. Zebrowski, with respect to you, just following up on Mr. Couillard's ‑‑ he and I necessarily did a very broad brush on this, but are you in the category of people who are paid -- devote 97 percent of your time to THESL and are paid by Toronto Hydro Corporation; is that right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I don't do the actual accounting allocation.  


MR. WARREN:  But you are paid by Toronto Hydro Corporation?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm paid by Toronto Hydro Corporation, that's right.


MR. WARREN:  What puzzles me about that, Mr. Zebrowski, and I'm sure you can help me with it, is that Toronto Hydro Corporation itself is not a regulated entity; is that right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Not directly, no.


MR. WARREN:  And none of the subsidiaries, other than THESL, are regulated entities; is that right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Toronto Hydro Telecom would be regulated by the CRTC.  Our Toronto Hydro Energy Services company, although it is what you would typically call an unregulated company, there are aspects of its business that is regulated by the Ontario Energy Board.  It's licensed by the Ontario Energy Board and it has to adhere to the retailer code of conduct, as well.


MR. WARREN:  Do you provide advice to the telecom subsidiary on CRTC matters?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, I don't.


MR. WARREN:  Finally, panel, for whoever is in a position to answer this question, as I look at this organization chart, which is VECC 7, I see, in the persons of Mr. O'Brien, Mr. Black and Mr. Haines, what appears to me as “lowly grunts” in this business to be in effect three chief executive officers.  Would I be wrong in that notwithstanding their title, they appear to be three chief executive officers; is that fair?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, it's not.  Mr. O'Brien is the chief executive officer of the corporation.  Mr. Black runs the operation of the utility, and I think Mr. O'Brien provided some comments on day one of this hearing regarding the succession planning that we are currently in the process, as Mr. Black is planning to go retire in the near future.  And Mr. Haines is taking over some of the responsibility in the LDC -- well, one of the large responsibilities on the LDC for matters related to customer services.


MR. WARREN:  Panel, I want to change to a different topic heading, and I want to -- before I begin these questions, I want to make sure that you're the right folks to answer them.  My questions are with respect to capital expenditures, the amount that are spent on them and the evidence that is filed in support of those expenditures.  Are you the right folks to answer those questions, or is it somebody else?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, unfortunately, it will have to be to our third panel.  We're not in a position to discuss.


MR. WARREN:  So, in particular, I just want to make sure that panel 3 doesn't point back at you and say he should have answered the questions.  If I have questions with respect to, for example, the rationale for the proposed investment in smart meters, is that panel 3?


MR. COUILLARD:  That is a panel 3 topic.


MR. WARREN:  And, more broadly, if I have questions with respect to the capital expenditures which are set out on table 4.1 in the pre‑filed evidence, is that a question which I should reserve for the next panel?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, Mr. Warren.


MR. WARREN:  And, finally, just by way of clarification, if I have questions about the proposed expenditures on CDM measures, is that the next panel or is that you?


MR. COUILLARD:  Can you maybe just give me more precision?


MR. WARREN:  Let me work through the questions and see whether you can answer them or not.


Mr. O'Brien in his testimony the other day said that it was the intention of Toronto Hydro Corporation to become a leader in CDM measures.  Do you remember him giving that testimony?


MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry?


MR. WARREN:  To be a leader in CDM measures.


MR. COUILLARD:  That question would be better addressed to the third panel.


MR. WARREN:  My question really is a narrower one.  If you look at the organization chart, which we've been looking at in VECC 7, I see the person of Dr. Richard Lu, who is the vice president of environment, health and safety and the chief conservation officer.  My understanding is that Dr. Lu is going to be chiefly responsible for the development and implementation of CDM measures; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  And may I -- am I correct in understanding that the CDM measures Dr. Lu will be developing will be applied to the ratepayers, constituency, if you wish, of THESL; is that right?


MR. COCHRANE:  To the extent that investments in CDM are capital investments and form part of the rate base, they would be part of the ongoing base on which THESL earns a return.  To the extent that they are operating in nature, they would be funded solely through the third tranche increase which has already been awarded to THESL.


MR. WARREN:  But am I correct in understanding, Mr. Cochrane, that it is the intention of Toronto Hydro Corporation to develop an expertise which -- in CDM measures which it can market to customers which are outside of THESL's constituency; in other words, to customers that may be outside of Toronto Hydro's area or, indeed, to gas customers; is that fair?


MR. COCHRANE:  I did not hear that from Mr. O'Brien's testimony.


MR. WARREN:  Nor did I.  I'm asking you.


MR. COCHRANE:  No.  I'm not aware that that is part of the plan.  I believe any statements were referring to the utility's role in CDM.


MR. WARREN:  Toronto Hydro Energy Services Inc., what is its business?


MR. COUILLARD:  The business of Toronto Hydro Energy Services is related to -- well, there is still some retail of electricity, a portion of the business that we are winding down, which is the most significant portion of the business.  There are also other areas that Energy Services is involved in.  There's a water heater business.  There are about 90,000 tanks of electric water heater, and now there is a gas offering that was launched a couple of months ago.  


There is also what we call energy efficiency type of services that are provided by Energy Services.  And to the extent that -- we are talking HVAC.  We're talking about profiling.  We're talking about any type of energy efficiency.  They would go to a company and provide consulting services on how to reduce energy costs.


MR. WARREN:  Is it the intention that Toronto Hydro Electric Services Inc. will get into the business of marketing expertise in CDM?


MR. COUILLARD:  Not at this point.


MR. WARREN:  Is it possible that it might?


MR. COUILLARD:  We're always evaluating what potential business opportunities are out there.  It could also be directly influenced by new regulation that could be put forward by the government in this regard.


MR. WARREN:  I just want to make certain about this.  If I want to ask questions, questions I might have about how you arrived at the proposed expenditure on smart meters, that is a question which goes not to the people who write the cheques, but to the next panel; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, Mr. Warren.


MR. WARREN:  My final area of questions is premised on some evidence which I read, which is that -- and I take it we would agree, Mr. Couillard, that Toronto Hydro is -- that is THESL makes an effort to control its costs to the extent that it can; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, my friend, Mr. Shepherd, will in his cross‑examination be asking some questions about compensation levels at Toronto Hydro, but there is a VECC interrogatory which was referred to the other day, and it is in Mr. Millar’s book of materials.  And if I recollect the numbers there, the average executive salary for Toronto Hydro Corporation, if you include base pay, bonuses and other matters, benefits, is in the range of approximately $316,000 a year.  Do you remember that?


MR. COUILLARD:  I remember the discussion.  I don't remember agreeing to this number. 


MR. WARREN:  Would you take it, subject to check, that that's what the exhibit shows, that it's $316,000?


MR. COUILLARD:  What the exhibit shows is an average that was calculated without proration of the head count.  If head counts are prorated properly, because we had a significant amount of movement, we had way more executives at that time than we have now, this average is significantly reduced.  We've provided as evidence to Mr. Millar this morning, I think, on -- sorry I’m not familiar with how you are reading the evidence.  So if you could help me, Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Which -- this is Undertaking J3.4? 


MR. COUILLARD:  J3.4. 


MR. WARREN:  You’ll have to give me a minute.  I'm just about to choke to death on paper, Panel, so I have to find J3.4.  Mr. Rodger is giving me oxygen as ever.  Thank you.  


If I look at J3.4 this is, what, the normalized figures, you take into consideration the ups and downs? 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  So if you are looking at J3.4 and you were to add all the different components of the compensation, you would arrive at a figure of $315,000, Mr. Warren.  That’s probably the figure you were referring to.  I don’t want to put words in your mouth. 


MR. WARREN:  Let's just walk through the calculation.  I was taking, in the second box, executives for 2006 that the average base is $178,000. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. WARREN:  I was adding to that the incentive payment in executives in 2006, which is $62,000. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. WARREN:  And then I was adding to that the average yearly benefits for executives in 2006 of $75,000.  I was taking the sum of those three numbers and dividing by five, and that's how I came up with $316,000. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yeah, but I don't think it would be fair to say that this is all executive compensation.   What is included in the last line on benefit includes the contribution to OMERS and the post-employment benefit contribution from the company.  


We've decided to include those in the calculation.  I do not believe that everybody had to include those, or there were direction to include or not.  We did include it, and that represented approximately $60,000 out of $75,000 that is there.  So – 


MR. WARREN:  I wasn't going to ask you to compare yourself to anybody else. 


MR. COUILLARD:  And I was not intending to do so. 


MR. WARREN:  Higher and better minds than I will do that, but I was going to get to the question of whether or not Toronto Hydro had ever obtained, from an independent outside party, an assessment of whether or not these were reasonable levels of compensation for a business of the size of Toronto Hydro Corporation doing the business it does.  


MR. COUILLARD:  We are currently in the process.  We have hired Mercer to assess salary, not only from an executive level perspective, but from all management positions; supervisors, managers, professionals and executives.  We are hoping this report will be completed in the second quarter of 2006.  


In the past, we had discussion with Hay - no formal report - trying to compare where the compensation of all or management staff was in regards to market.  What we had found in this particular area is that -- the only thing that Hay had done was really comparing their database.  I would never pretend that this is an in-depth review or market assessment.  They have a database of salary for different organization.  


What they came up with, from a market perspective, is that we are in the 50th percentile of their database in regards to what they call broader public sector.  This would include municipalities, governments and all agencies from -- or any type of government-related type of entity.  And we are in the 25th percentage of the GTA normal public sector. 


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, this is the result of what Mercer is doing or is Mercer doing something other than this?


MR. COUILLARD:  Mercer^ is actually doing a full analysis.  What I just quoted is you through discussions with Hay, which is a firm that does some of this work, we had provided to -- discussed it with our board of directors in the spring of 2005.  Some of the high-level discussion of, like, where we are in compensation.  And following this review, the board or the compensation committee from the board has asked us to undertake a full review, which is currently being done by Mercer. 


MR. WARREN:  And when do you expect to have the Mercer report done?


MR. COUILLARD:  As I just mentioned, the second quarter of 2006. 


MR. WARREN:  Now, can I ask you to turn up, if you would, the revised schedule 6.9.  It’s tab 6, schedule 6.9.  


There is a revision which is as fresh as last Friday, January 13th.  What it is, schedule 6.9 is distribution expenses incurred through sharing services with affiliates. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. WARREN:  Now, I want to look at the category of legal services.  Toronto Hydro Corporation has a general counsel, Mr. Wilde. 


MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct. 


MR. WARREN:  And Mr. Wilde, does he provide 97 percent of his services to THESL?   


MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Wilde, our legal department, as you are probably aware, lawyers are very well trained at tracking hours and how much time they spend on different areas.  The allocation for our legal services is done on a time basis, on how much time they are spending on different affiliates in different areas. 


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me how much time Mr. Wilde spends on THESL matters?   


MR. COUILLARD:  Approximately 60, 60 percent. 


MR. WARREN:  So when I look at schedule 6.9, of the 1.7 million which is allocated to Toronto Hydro, THESL, that represents -- sorry, are there lawyers under Mr. Wilde in the legal department?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. WARREN:  How many are there?   


MR. COUILLARD:  Give me a moment, I'll count them.  There are three full-time lawyers under Mr. Wilde and also, like, one lawyer under contract that will do work for overflow, based on their hourly basis, charge. 


MR. WARREN:  And of the three full-time lawyers under Mr. Wilde, are any of them assigned full-time to THESL?   


MR. COUILLARD:  We do not do this allocation full-time to THESL.  Once again, it is done on an hourly base.  The number I quoted you, the 60 percent earlier, is the entire allocation of the legal department on THESL matter only.  There is significant allocation of the legal department that goes to corporate matters, and that gets picked up in the overall allocation, because legal is involved in all of our Security Commission filings and all -- like corporate board matters that we have in the normal course of business. 


MR. WARREN:  Of the 60 percent allocated to THESL, would that include advice with respect to regulatory matters before this Board?


MR. COUILLARD:  It would be very, very small.  Like, the regulatory advice would be done through the regulatory department. 


MR. WARREN:  That's Mr. Zebrowski's department?


MR. COUILLARD:  Correct. 


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Zebrowski, how many employees do you have working for you?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I have three. 


MR. WARREN:  And those three employees, would they be devoting all of their time to THESL matters?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Not entirely, no.  As I mentioned before, SE, our retail affiliate, does have a licence from the OEB, so sometimes there are administrative matters we look after for them as well. 


MR. WARREN:  Would 95 percent of their time be devoted to OEB matters?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Ninety-seven, 99, somewhere around there probably.


MR. WARREN:  So that's three employees and plus your time devoted to Ontario Energy Board matters; is that right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's right.


MR. WARREN:  Now, in addition to that, going back to the number on page 6 ‑‑ sorry, schedule 6.9, for 2006, the estimated value of 1.7, am I right, Mr. Couillard, that that represents 60 percent of the time of Mr. Wilde and his three full‑time lawyers?


MR. COCHRANE:  It represents 60 percent of the overall cost of the ‑‑ of Mr. Wilde's department.  So we do not do the allocation essentially by individual.  We ask for an assessment of the entire department's efforts.


MR. WARREN:  So 60 percent of the legal department's time in 2005 comes out to $1.7 million; is that right?


MR. COCHRANE:  Of the cost, actually, not necessarily the time.  There may be some legal work that's outsourced to external firms.


MR. WARREN:  There's an additional figure for what's outsourced to external firms; is that right?


MR. COCHRANE:  No, that's included in this allocation.


MR. WARREN:  All right.  That's a wrinkle on it.  Of the $1.7 million, how much of it is external legal services; do you know?


MR. COCHRANE:  I do not know offhand.


MR. WARREN:  Let's look at the number for the regulatory services, just going down.  There's $3.8 million allocated to THESL.  Is that Mr. Zebrowski and his three employees?


MR. COCHRANE:  They are included in that number.  Also included in that number, the largest cost element in that number, is the assessment from the OEB itself, which Mr. Zebrowski pays on behalf of THESL, and then is allocated -- the cost of which is then allocated to THESL.


MR. COUILLARD:  And I would like to point out here that -- maybe there seems to be a bit of confusion how the allocation is made.  This cost, for example, the OEB cost, will be 100 percent allocated to the distribution company.  There would not be -- it's not 97 of that cost that would be allocated to the distribution company.  So our methodology is to allocate everything, all the functions, the different areas, and for everything that is more ‑‑ for service that give benefit to more than one area, to use to put that into a pool, and then to do an allocation methodology.  And our total shared services number, that amount of that pool is approximately $11.5 or $12 million.


MR. WARREN:  I take it I can understand that like all costs, that Toronto Hydro scrupulously reviews the costs it pays for legal services, whether internal or external, to ensure that it gets the best deal; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chair, I have a number of materials I would like to distribute for purposes ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. WARREN:  I've distributed to you some material.  Let me walk you through it so that you have some context and you understand what I'm trying to understand.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Warren, I'm sorry to interrupt.  Do you have another copy of those materials?  We don't have one here.


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, I don't, because I just ‑‑ I'll give you mine when I leave.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, we'll share.  Why don't you ‑‑


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  -- take one of these copies.


MR. WARREN:  Panel, all of these materials relate to a proceeding, a 2004 proceeding before the Board that was known as the regulatory assets application.  Are you familiar with that, Mr. Zebrowski?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, I am.


MR. WARREN:  Now, the regulatory assets application was one in which, among other things, the Board selected a limit number of utilities who were to take ‑‑ whose applications were going to be subject to scrutiny in an oral hearing.  Do you recall that, Mr. Zebrowski?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, I do.


MR. WARREN:  And it included initially -- the first group of the utilities whose regulatory assets application was to be subject to public scrutiny were, among others, Enersource, Hydro Mississauga, Toronto Hydro, Hydro One, Enwin and London.  Do you remember that?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Correct, yes.


MR. WARREN:  And my recollection of the process was that there were applications filed by those entities, that there were interrogatories, that there were hearings and that each of the hearings -- the hearings for each of the utilities, with the possible exception of Hydro One, took approximately a day to complete, and then there was argument after that.  Do you remember that?  Have I got it roughly right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  It was a bit longer than a day, but...


MR. WARREN:  Well, I checked the transcript on it, Mr. Zebrowski, before I came up here and the transcript was roughly one volume for each of the applications, which translates roughly, according to the Board's process, into about a day.  It might have been two days, is your recollection, Mr. Zebrowski?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  To my recollection, it spanned a period of three days; not the entire three days, but it did span across three days.


MR. WARREN:  For all of them or for just --


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, just for Toronto Hydro.


MR. WARREN:  Now, included in the materials which I've handed up, there is Toronto Hydro application.  It's called "Recovery of Regulatory Assets Phase Two Evidence", and accompanying and in addition to that is the recovery of regulatory assets of Enersource, Hydro Mississauga.  Can you turn up those?  It's the application itself, not the argument.


MR. MILLAR:  Should we give these exhibit numbers, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  Perhaps you should, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  The next is K4.3.  Would you like to give that to ‑‑ which document would you like to refer to first?


MR. WARREN:  Let's start with the application of THESL in the regulated assets case.


MR. MILLAR:  That's this binder?


MR. WARREN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be K4.3.  

EXHIBIT NO. K4.3:  APPLICATION OF THESL IN THE REGULATED ASSETS CASE. 

MR. WARREN:  And the second document at this stage should be the application of Enersource, Hydro Mississauga.


MR. MILLAR:  K4.4.


MR. WARREN:  Again, it's a ‑‑ should be a fat bound document.


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry.  

EXHIBIT NO. K4.4:  APPLICATION OF ENERSOURCE HYDRO MISSISSAUGA IN THE REGULATED ASSETS CASE.

MR. WARREN:  Now, with respect to the application of THESL, I take it, Mr. Zebrowski, that you would be familiar with this application?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I was at the time, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Well, I'm not going to test your memory on the details of it, but if I do a comparison of that application with the Enersource Hydro Mississauga application, it looks ‑‑ I want to be fair about this.  It looks substantially the same, indeed almost identical, except that there are different numbers used for Enersource Hydro Mississauga.  Would that be a fair summary of the two documents?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Well, as best I recall of Hydro Mississauga, yes.  I think just to address that, the reason for that was we did use the same counsel and we did attempt to share costs as much as possible in the common elements of preparing that application.


MR. WARREN:  Now, the next two documents I would like to have marked and referred to are the arguments that were submitted, the final arguments.  And the first of those is a Toronto Hydro-Electric System Ltd. final argument.


MR. MILLAR:  K4.5.  

EXHIBIT NO. K4.5:  TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LTD. FINAL ARGUMENT IN THE REGULATED ASSETS CASE.

MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm not sure which one that is.


MR. WARREN:  The Toronto Hydro final argument.


MR. COUILLARD:  Is this the one?


MR. WARREN:  The thin cerlox-bound document.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm sorry, we're missing a document.  Sorry, we got them mixed up.


MR. WARREN:  I'm not sure you are looking at the right document.  Make sure you are looking at the right document.  It’s a relative thin, cerlox-bound document. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I see which one it is, but I've got the numbering all messed up here.  If you wouldn't mind, Mr. Millar, to go through that again for me. 


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, the thick THESL application is the recovery of regulatory assets Phase Two evidence, that’s 4.3.  


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  4.3, thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  And the comparable document for Enersource is K4.4.  The final argument of THESL is K4.5, and I'm assuming we'll give the final argument of Enersource K4.6. 


MR. WARREN:   Yes, thank you.  


EXHIBIT NO. K4.6:  FINAL ARGUMENT OF ENERSOURCE


MR. WARREN:  Now, at this stage in the process, Mr. Zebrowski, I don't need you or want you to read through both documents.  But will you take it, subject to check, that these two final arguments are, except for the numbers specific to the two utilities, essentially identical, final arguments. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  They would be similar, definitely, yes. 


MR. WARREN:  Now, the next document I would like you to look at, Panel, witnesses, is a Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition interrogatory that was filed with Enersource Hydro Mississauga in the generic issues case.  It's about 15 pages long.  


MR. MILLAR:  K4.7.  

EXHIBIT NO. K4.7:  VULNERABLE ENERGY CONSUMERS COALITION INTERROGATORY FILED WITH ENERSOURCE HYDRO MISSISSAUGA IN THE GENERIC ISSUES CASE.


MR. WARREN:  Now, in response to an interrogatory that was delivered by Mr. DeVellis’ client with respect to the expenditures by Enersource Hydro Mississauga on, among other things, legal services, if you turn to page 5 of 15 of that document you'll see the that actual costs for 2004 are the sum of $360,000.  And if you look at the footnote, you'll see that footnote 3 on the next page says:



“This amount pertains to legal expenses of the 



regulatory assets Phase Two proceeding.” 


Do you see that?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, I do. 


MR. WARREN:  Now, I don't know what the comparable figure is for Toronto Hydro, but let's see if we can get to the number.  And the next document I would like you to look at is an interrogatory filed in this case, VECC interrogatory number 24. 


MR. MILLAR:  K4.8.  

EXHIBIT NO. K4.8:  VULNERABLE ENERGY CONSUMERS COALITION INTERROGATORY NUMBER 24.


MR. WARREN:  If I look at K4.8, I see in 2004 that legal fees for 2004 were $239,000.  Can you tell me, Mr. Zebrowski, how much, if any, of that amount was the external legal costs for the regulatory assets case?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, not off the top of my head.  In 2004 -- sorry, in 2004 there were two large proceedings that we had in front of the Board.  One was related to regulatory assets, the other was the CDM approval.  So that would primarily be made up of those two items. 


MR. WARREN:  CDM approval in 2004?  My recollection of the chronology of that is that it was 2005.  I may have that wrong, Mr. Zebrowski.  


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, it was November 2004, as I recall, that we had the CDM proceeding. 


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me, Mr. Zebrowski, or can you undertake to find out for me what the external legal costs were for the regulatory assets case in 2004?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  We'll attempt that, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  J4.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.3:  TO PROVIDE THE AMOUNT OF EXTERNAL LEGAL COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE REGULATORY ASSETS CASE IN 2004.


MR. WARREN:  The final two documents I’d like you to look at in the pile of documents I’ve presented were -- these are interrogatory responses, actually they were provided in the generic issues case by my friend Mr. Rodger’s firm.  These were responses to interrogatories about Enwin.  


Now, Enwin was also represented by the same law firm in the regulatory assets case; correct?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, I believe they were. 


MR. WARREN:  And would you agree with me, and I can have it here if you want to burden everybody with the paper, that the application that was filed by Enwin was essentially identical in form inform the application filed by Enersource and by Toronto.  Do you recall that, Mr. Zebrowski?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, I couldn't speak to that.  I really didn't spend very much time with Enwin at all.  We did work together with Hydro Mississauga, therefore, I am more familiar with their application.  But Enwin, I didn't really spend any time with. 


MR. WARREN:  Can we mark these two interrogatory responses?  Perhaps you want to mark them as one document.


MR. MILLAR:  K4.9.  

EXHIBIT NO. K4.9:  RESPONSES TO INTERROGATORIES ABOUT ENWIN IN THE REGULATORY ASSET PROCEEDING.


MR. WARREN:   According to the Enwin response, if I look at their response the amounts recorded with respect to regulatory costs in 2004 were $225,000.  My question to you, sir, is it would seem - I want to emphasize the word “seem” - that there was a substantial amount of legal fees incurred to produce work which was, in substantial measure, the same for the three utilities.  What I'm wondering, sir, is what efforts Toronto Hydro made to ensure that the fees that it was paying were reasonable. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I guess, first of all, there probably was similarity between Hydro Mississauga’s and Toronto Hydro's applications.  As far as Enwin, I think – well, we know that there was quite a bit of difference, and we know their application was eventually withdrawn on the regulatory asset proceedings.  I'm not sure that is a fair comparison to start with. 


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Zebrowski just before you answer the question, what I'm going to do is unburden myself all this paper.  I brought with me a copy of the Enwin application.  


MR. MILLAR:  K4.10.  

EXHIBIT NO. K4.10:  COPY OF THE ENWIN APPLICATION IN THE REGULATORY ASSET PROCEEDING.

MR. WARREN:   Certainly, at a high level of analysis view, it appears to be substantially the same in form and, in large measure, substantially the same in content as the applications of Enersource, Hydro Mississauga and Toronto.  The difference, of course, as you have quite correctly pointed out, is that Enwin’s application was ultimately withdrawn, wasn't it?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes. 


MR. WARREN:  Now, in light of what has been filed here, which again appears there was substantial level of commonality among them, and in light of the information we have about legal costs incurred, again I come to the question:  What efforts can you say, can you tell the Board, were made to control the legal costs in respect of that regulatory assets application?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Well, first of all, we did work with Hydro Mississauga, as mentioned before.  We did share counsel with Mississauga.  There were common elements in the earlier parts of the application itself that were common.  And we shared the costs of those particular elements.  


Once we got to the proceeding, of course, there were separate hearings, and we had to conduct those separately.  I can't recall, in terms of the argument, now how similar the arguments were.   I did not look at Hydro Mississauga's argument, although we did discuss with Mississauga some of the issues to see if we could try to agree on what a final approach should be.  And I'm not sure we necessarily did agree on every element that went through that way.


But to the degree we could, in that proceeding we did try to have common elements and share whatever legal costs that would flow out of that.  As I mentioned before, though, as something -- that is probably in the earlier part of the proceeding -- that was something we could accomplish more than we could once the actual proceeding started.  After that, we were pretty of on our own.  


I should also mention, though, that there are other proceedings.  In the year before, there was a service area amendment proceeding in which a number of utilities took part in.  Toronto Hydro first entered that proceeding on its own, but we were able to develop a coalition, and again we had common legal representation and we all shared in the cost of the consultant and the legal fee that were used in that case.


MR. WARREN:  Did you make an effort after the case was over to compare the filings that had been made by Enwin, THESL and Enersource Hydro Mississauga?  Did you make an effort to see the extent to which there was a common effort or common work product?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Not specifically, no.


MR. WARREN:  Did you speak to the people at Enwin and at Enersource to make sure that the fees that were being charged were reasonable in relation to the fact that it was shared services?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm trying to recall the invoicing.  I can't recall exactly on the regulatory asset proceeding, but I know in other proceedings where we do share counsel, quite often we do receive an invoice that totals the entire cost of the legal part of the proceeding.  And it's then broken out evenly amongst all the different participants.  From that standpoint, Toronto Hydro actually does benefit through that kind of a process because --


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, Mr. Zebrowski, but I was asking about the regulatory assets case.  I take it that you didn't compare the costs that have been incurred by Enwin and Enersource Hydro Mississauga with the costs that have been incurred by you; is that fair?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  The final legal costs?  No, I couldn't do that.


MR. WARREN:  Did the three utilities negotiate a reduced hourly rate for the services that they received in common?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Not directly, no.  Toronto ‑‑ excuse me just for a second.  Toronto has a relationship with BLG at the moment, and there is a discounted rate that is applied to most of the work with BLG.  I can't speak for all of it, but I know definitely the work that is done in the regulatory area there is a discounted rate already available.


MR. WARREN:  Was there a discounted rate applied for the three utilities for the common work in ‑‑


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I can't speak to the other utilities.  All I know is that there is an invoice.  It is divided equally amongst the participants, and our portion is discounted.


MR. WARREN:  That was the case for the regulatory assets matter or the case today?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Sorry?


MR. WARREN:  Was that the case for the regulatory assets matter or is that the case today?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I cannot recall the invoices directly, how they were administered in the regulatory asset case, particularly in the early part of that case where there was work jointly done between Toronto and Mississauga, whether it was an invoice that was split or whether our legal counsel actually did some allocation beforehand, and then issued the invoice to us.  But I know from other proceedings, where we have shared counsel, that invoice is split, and then we do receive a discount.


MR. WARREN:  But you can't tell me anything of that particularly with respect to the regulatory assets case?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I just can't remember the form of the actual invoicing on the regulatory assets.


MR. WARREN:  All of this is a prequel, Mr. Zebrowski, to a set of questions about your regulatory costs variance account.  And in this context, if you could turn up your pre‑filed evidence at tab 8, page 11 of 12.  


As I understand it, THESL has applied for a regulatory cross variance account, and that what is to go into that account are certain broadly defined category of costs, including the regulatory costs, including intervenor consultant and legal costs; is that correct?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  There were a number of elements that we considered to put into that account.  There are intervenor costs, legal costs, consultant's costs.  We also included ESA fees.  And these were all regulatory costs that were difficult to estimate ahead of time, because it was all ‑‑ it really depended on the level of activity and the kind of proceedings that the Board would be into in the coming year, which are just difficult to predict sometimes.


MR. WARREN:  The concept, as I understand it, was that there was to be a forecast of the amount that was to be recovered in rates, and if the actual expenditures in these various categories exceeded the forecast, that there would be a variance account and you would seek recovery of the balance in the variance account at a later date; is that right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Whether it came out higher or lower, the variance account would catch whatever the variance was.


MR. WARREN:  I didn't say higher or lower.  I said whatever the difference is would be subject to clearance at a later date; is that right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  If there is a difference, that's right.


MR. WARREN:  Now, whether or not there will be a regulatory cost variance account is the subject of -- one of the subjects of the generic proceeding; is that correct?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That is correct, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I've looked through the pre‑filed evidence and I cannot find anywhere in it ‑‑ sorry, the amount that, if the account is approved, THESL wants included in the account for 2006, and I would look in this context to what has now been marked as Exhibit K4.8, which is a Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition IR No. 24.  


If I look at that exhibit, I see that for the 2005 and 2006, that there is no estimate of legal fees.  Actually, for 2005 you would know what your actual legal fees were; correct?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  We will very shortly, I would imagine, yes.


MR. WARREN:  You're the one who has to approve them, do you not, Mr. Zebrowski?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I don't keep all the accounting trace -- all the accounting for that.


MR. WARREN:  Do you know as we sit here today, or could you get, the amount of legal fees in 2005?


MR. COUILLARD:  Just a moment.  It would require significant effort, because we would have to go through all invoice and review what is in, what is not in, related to ‑‑ because some of our counsel do more than only regulatory work, so we would have to do a detailed invoice analysis.  It is possible.  The answer is to your question, it is possible, although I'm not sure how long it would take.


MR. WARREN:  Before putting you to any work in that respect, what I want to know is:  Is Toronto Hydro seeking to include in the variance account, if one is created, the legal costs for 2005?


MR. COCHRANE:  Mr. Warren, consistent with the methodology that we use for the forward test year, we could have included the expense level incurred in 2004 in our forward years.  So I think, to the best of my knowledge, the projected costs in each of the years that would be used as a basis for the variance account would be the 2004 level of expenditure.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Cochrane, why would you do that, when the forward test year contemplated your providing information about 2005 and 2006?  I don't understand why you would rely on a 2004 figure for forward test year applications.


MR. COCHRANE:  Okay.  Well, we specifically ‑ and disclosed as in our forward test year application - made a limited number of adjustments.  Clearly, not all cost less remain exactly the same as in year 2004, and that's, you know, to a great degree of precision.  However, we selected those areas where there would be major cost differentials, and those were limit to compensation and amortization. 


MR. WARREN:  Are we then to read that this cost doesn’t appear in -- let's go back to exhibit K4.8.  The answer is:



“Below is a schedule showing regulatory costs for 



1999-2006.”  


And then there is an explanatory text on the second page.  It reads:

“Please note that THESL's EDR filing did not include any intervenor costs, legal fees or consulting fees for 2005 and 2006.  However, it is very likely some costs will be incurred in light of the EDR and CDM hearings.”


The text does not say that you should take the 2004 – sorry, the 2005 and 2006 figures to be roughly what was incurred in 2004, does it?   


MR. COCHRANE:  That is -- the text does not say that.  


MR. WARREN:  Now, on what evidence is the Board to assess the reasonableness of $239,000 as a reasonable basis for recovering rates in 2006.  Where is the evidence in the record that that's a reasonable figure that should be recovered in rates?


MR. COCHRANE:  I would like the opportunity to go back and examine the costs that were included in 2004 and whether they were of ongoing nature or if they related to a specific proceeding that was deferred to a regulatory asset account. 


MR. WARREN:  That's an answer to a question I didn't ask you.  I just want to know where in the pre-filed material is there evidence upon which the Board can make an assessment that $239,000 is a reasonable figure, prudently incurred cost, to imbed in rates?  And I'm going to suggest to you that the answer is, it's nowhere.  Am I wrong?   


MR. COUILLARD:  Towards our application, I think if we talk about specifically talking about the legal fees or any outside counsel fees related to a proceeding or rate hearing proceeding, the answer is, yes.  However, all along, our application is talking about the methodology that we've used to determine costs and the review that we've been through in order to assess these costs.  So from an over all perspective, I think we feel that there's justification for those costs and it's been provided. 


MR. WARREN:  Thank you, panel.  Mr. Chairman, I was somewhat surprised by the fact that two topics were punted off to the next panel, but that's good news for you and better news for me.  I'm done.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:   Thank you, Mr. Warren.  


We'll take the lunch break at this point and come back in an hour.  


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:31 p.m.

‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 1:33 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I was in mid sentence.  Mr. Chairman, for the benefit of other counsel who are following me, I expect to be at least three hours.


MR. KAISER:  Three?


FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Three.  I may well go into Tuesday.  It depends on how long the answers are.  I have a lot of stuff to cover.


Witnesses, my name is Jay Sheppard, and I'm counsel for The Schools Energy Coalition.  You distribute electricity to about 900 schools in your franchise area.  Were you aware of that?


MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You distribute electricity to about 900 schools in your franchise area.  Were you aware of that?


MR. COUILLARD:  It seems possible.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We discussed comparative prices - that is, your distribution rates - with Mr. O'Brien and Mr. Haines on Tuesday.  And at the Board's request yesterday, we filed Exhibit 3.14 which compares Toronto Hydro rates to those of other utilities.  Do you have that exhibit there?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, we have it here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Subject to the creative spelling of Vaughan, would you agree that -- will you accept, subject to check, that these correctly reflect the bills proposed for these utilities for 2006, including your own?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  This would include all components of the bill, then, would it?


MR. SHEPHERD:  These are distribution only.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Distribution only.  And rate riders, would they be included or not included?


MR. SHEPHERD:  They are included, as it indicates at the top.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm sorry, okay.  Okay, we'll accept that subject to check.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's correct, isn't it, that Hydro Ottawa's rates may actually be lower than these ones; right?  You are aware that they have settled their case; right?  So if the Board approves their settlement, their rates may actually be lower than the ones on here; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm having difficulty hearing.  You're saying that they would be lower than the once published here?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, because these are applied for.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  These are the applied-for rates.  That makes sense, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Let's just look at Hydro Ottawa for a second.  Your proposed rates are consistently higher than those of Hydro Ottawa in almost every circumstance, aren't they?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  In almost every circumstance.  I can see one here where they are lower.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  That's at the smallest end of general service over 50, and that's going to be a rate design issue; right?  You are familiar with how these work.  You have a very low fixed monthly cost, they have a very high one, and so at the bottom end of the scale, you may have a rate advantage even though, overall, your rates for GS over 50 are higher; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That could be the case, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Except for those customers at the very low end of GS over 50, all the rest of your customers are paying more than they would pay at Hydro Ottawa rates; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That would appear to be the case, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you seen the evidence filed by The Schools Energy Coalition from Frank Coppinger of the Toronto Hydro District School Board?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, I have.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And at the top of page 5 of that evidence ‑‑ do you want to get it out, just for a second?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I have it here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you agree that Toronto Hydro's bills to Toronto District School Board at your proposed rates and at their load, their own calculated load, are about 16.3 percent higher than they would if they were at Hydro Ottawa's rates?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'll accept that for now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And before we leave that exhibit, will you agree that bills from Toronto Hydro at 2006 proposed rates are almost double what they would be if they were at Horizon's rates?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  We'll accept that for now, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's go back to K3.14 for a second, and why don't we just stick with Horizon for a second.  Again, with Horizon, you see there are substantial differences between their bills and those of Toronto Hydro for almost every customer except small residential users; isn't that right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, I see that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have a rough idea of how many of your customers have consumption of 250 kilowatt hours a month or lower?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Residential customers?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I couldn't tell you that off the top of my head, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a small number, right, 1 percent, 2 percent, like that?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I would probably expect that to be higher than that.  Our average consumption, I think, is in the order of 8- or 900 kilowatt hours per month.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could undertake to tell the Board what that number is, residential customers 250 kilowatt hours or lower.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  We'll do our best to pull that out.


MR. MILLAR:  J4.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.4:  NUMBER OF RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMERS CONSUMING 250 KILOWATT HOURS A MONTH OR LOWER.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Aside from those customers, everybody else pays more in Toronto than in Hamilton; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  According to this chart, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Some of them are big differences.  Businesses, for example, or commercial enterprises with substantial loads pay two or three times as much in Toronto as opposed to Hamilton; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I see at the far end of the scale that would be correct, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  For example, a large school -- large schools in the 4- or 500-kilowatt range; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Are these representative loads of schools or are these ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, these are straight from your 2006 EDR model.  They're the Board's standard sample bills.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  The Board's standard sample, but I'm not sure that these are necessarily the load profiles that a school would have and whether you could take any particular customer here and say that that school would represent the same sort of bill impact at a school.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It was only an example.  Let's just talk about the hypothetical 500 kilowatt GS customer.  That 500-kilowatt GS customer is going to pay three times as much in Toronto as opposed to Hamilton; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  About that, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And can you give us an idea of what kind of customer is that?  Is that like a big apartment building?   Is it a factory?  Will you give us an example, order of magnitude, to help us understand what kind of entity that is?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  In terms of a 500-kilowatt load, I'm guessing here a little bit.  It would probably be in the order of probably a small industrial plant, I would think, or a larger multi-unit complex, that type of thing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  An office building that is somewhat smaller than this one, but still a substantial size?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Relatively substantial size, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The ‑‑ and if you look, as well, at entities like -- places like London or Mississauga, again, you see the same sort of pattern, right, that your bills are substantially higher in almost every case?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Substantially or not, they are generally higher, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In Mississauga, your 500-kilowatt person pays an additional $7,500 compared to Mississauga?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  You can isolate on that particular customer, but you've got a whole range of different ‑‑ wouldn’t call it substantially.  I see numbers of 11 or 5 percent even in Mississauga so we've got a range of impacts ranging from plus 5 percent to plus almost 150 percent. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you agree that from the point of view of the type of distribution utility you are, Toronto Hydro is, that you are more like Ottawa or London or Mississauga or Hamilton, than what you be, for example, Veridian or the PowerStream entities. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I don't think that's fair at all.  I think Mr. Haines spoke to that on Tuesday, and I think he explained it extremely well in terms of how different Toronto is than every other utility out there.  Toronto is unique within Ontario.  And on that basis, to try to draw a comparison between Toronto's rates and anybody else's rates is misleading. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because why?   

     MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I can't explain all the differences in terms of why Toronto is different.  But –-


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just back up for a second.  We'll come to that in a minute.  You were here Tuesday when we discussed this impact of rate levels with Mr. O'Brien; right? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  He told us that rate comparisons are not something Toronto Hydro is concerned with; right? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That’s correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  He told us that, in fact, your customers are not generally concerned with what your prices are, relative to other LDC's; right?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Something to that nature, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason is because your customers don't know it's more expensive in Toronto; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I don't recall that specifically, no. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  If your customers were aware that your rates are so much higher than other urban LDCs, do you think that would affect your customer satisfaction level?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That’s speculative for me to try to answer that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I haven't asked the customers.  I couldn't answer that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have never actually done any studies of whether your customers are sensitive to rate levels, have you?   


MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Shepherd, is this related to rates?   


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, this is the prices you charge for your service. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Your question is:  Was there a specific study addressed to customers as far as rates from Toronto Hydro.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 


MR. COUILLARD:  No, there has not been.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you done studies that relate to that area that find out about price sensitivity of your customers?


MR. COUILLARD:  We had some over all customer, say, focus group or survey where customers were asked, you know, about the energy industry in general, nothing specific to rates, where these things were discussed.  And the biggest things coming out of these focus groups was the customer seems to be still be a little confused about who is doing what in the electricity industry.  And I think we can't blame the customer for that.  And there was also some – the number one priority of customers is reliability of service and being able to know when there is an outage, for example, how long the outages is going to be.  


That was, like, in hindsight what these focus groups were.  But specifically address, you know, do you think your rates are too high?  No, it was not asked, nor did we get comments from customers saying these rates are effectively too high.  I don't know if that answers your question or not, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You never have any customer complaints saying you are charging me too much money?


MR. COUILLARD:  I don't review the logs from the call centre, so I wouldn't be able to tell you if we got customer complaints saying their rates are too high.  But generally, this is not something that, to my knowledge, has been an issue from our customers. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand from Mr. Haines the other day that no one at THESL, or at Toronto Hydro generally, does comparisons of actual or proposed rates or bills to other LDCs; right?  That is not something you normally do. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, it's definitely in recent years anyway.  This is something that has never been a target for us or a benchmark of that nature.  We set our own rates based on our own costs.  That's what we use. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Couillard, you talked the other day about the bond-rating agencies and they are very interested in what you are doing and the components of your financial situation; right?   


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do the bond ratings ever take account of your rates relative on other LDCs in their analysis of your credit position?


MR. SARDANA:  I think what the agencies focus in on is the overall financial health of our company, relative to other companies.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. SARDANA:  But not specifically to do with rates. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So – 


MR. SARDANA:  Keep in mind, Mr. Shepherd, we are rated at a corporate level, not at an entity level.  So they would look at Toronto Hydro Corporation as a whole and compare that corporation to other entities. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they ignore THESL?   


MR. SARDANA:  No. I said they don't look at THESL's rates and give a view on that aspect of the operation.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So bond-rating people, you're talking to the bond-rating people on a regular basis; right?


MR. SARDANA:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  When you talk to somebody from DBRS, for example, they never ask you for an assessment of whether your rates are likely to have to go down, for example, because they are too high.  They never ask about that. 


MR. SARDANA:  Typically, no. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  My experience with bond-rating people is they are always looking for something that might be a risk.  If your rates appear to be high, wouldn't they perceive that to be a risk?


MR. SARDANA:  Let's put it that way, they haven't offered that view yet to us. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You also had some discussion with Mr. Warren earlier today about your relationship with your shareholder, the City of Toronto.  And indeed, they appoint all your board, right, including some of their counsellors are on your Board; right?


MR. SARDANA:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  In your discussions with the City, do they ever express any concern about your distribution rates relative to other LDCs?


MR. COUILLARD:  No. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are they aware of the difference between your rates and other LDCs, as far as you know?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, we don’t -- the extent of discussion regarding rates that we have with the City of Toronto is, like, when we filed this application we had a discussion with the City in providing them what the fact we were planning on reducing rates.  We explained to them why we were reducing rates and that's the extent of the discussion we had with them. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, there was a time when Toronto Hydro wasn't in its current structure.  There was a time when the City, from a political point of view, was concerned about the absolute level of rates; right?   


MR. COUILLARD:  I'm not sure if I'm in a position to answer that.  


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  When are you referring to, Mr. Shepherd?   


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, when Toronto Hydro was not earning a rate of return and was a more politically driven entity, that was the case prior to restructuring, right, the City was much more concerned with what -- with how the public would respond to rates from Toronto Hydro; right?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:   I'm just –


MR. RODGER:  I'm not sure how the panel can speculate on what the City may have thought or not thought.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm only asking the panel to tell me what's in their knowledge.  If there is nothing in their knowledge, they can say so.


MR. KAISER:  Which of you gentleman was around then?  I guess there was only of you that was even with this company at the time, and that would be you, Mr. Zebrowski. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm just trying to think back in my mind how things were back then.  The system was an entirely different system.  It was really more of a non-profit co-op style of system.  There were different forms of ownership.  In the City of York where I was at, prior to my arrival, it operated as a committee of counsel, and counsel had very direct control in terms of matters that happened at the Hydro Commission. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you.  In York, in particular, they were very sensitive to rates, weren't they?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I think they naturally were, and again, that was prior to my arrival there.  When I arrived that was right at the time they were changing to more of a commission structure, which is a little more independent of the City, but still a commission is like a Board, I guess, of the City itself.  So there is relationship there, but different forms of relationships carry different levels of involvement by the City and different influences by the City.  At a very, very high level as a matter of general direction your statement maybe true, but to give any kind of specifics to it, I don't think I could do that right now. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Shepherd, If I might add this point or draw on the point you are bringing up on the potential political impact of rates.  I can assure you that if, in fact, we were -- like, the city was being told or, like, city would feel that the rates we are charging our customers are not fair rate, they would certainly have discussion with the board of directors' level in this regard, considering that -- it would certainly brought up from council perspective.  


So to say that the city is not ‑‑ the city is not involved in how we put our application forward; however, they would certainly get involved if they felt necessary to come and to ‑‑ if they felt that we were overcharging or customers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I'm asking about that is because now that you're a profitable organization, very profitable organization, we saw in your discussion with Mr. Warren that they are sort of relying on your cash flow a bit, aren't they, the city?


MR. COUILLARD:  I wouldn't say -- I mean, yes, the number looks large, obviously, when you look at the dividend.  You are talking a contribution of approximately, let's say, $100 million in the last two years.  In comparison to a $7.1 billion budget, I can tell you we are not on the top of the agenda on the discussion on budget, from a city perspective.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We saw from what Mr. Warren filed that they certainly pointed out how much they were going to rely on you in their own documents, didn't they?


MR. COUILLARD:  I would still disagree with the fact they are depending on their funding.  I think to say that a $100 million contribution, which is a large amount, on a $7.1 billion budget I don't think we are at a make it or break it from a city perspective.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's also true, isn't it, that it is not just your dividends that they're getting, but they're also getting 6.8 percent on $1 billion that, if they were in out in the market investing that, they wouldn't be getting 6.8 percent; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  As I mentioned, you know, there's different ways to look at this, but, once again, in total, adding that and the dividend, it's somewhere in the range of $100 million, and on a $7.1 billion budget, I wouldn't consider that, from a city perspective and through my discussion with the city CFO -- I have discussions quite often with this individual, that -- you know, when we had informal discussion about his budget process, Toronto Hydro is not the biggest of his worry.


MR. KAISER:  Whose idea was it to make this special dividend of 30 million?  Is that their idea, the city's idea, or was that your idea?


MR. COUILLARD:  It was always the board's idea.  Maybe to just go back in time, was have -- I always rely back to this wholesale contract we have in the energy services.  But this contract became very lucrative because we had an option for an extension of 20 months.  This extension was discussed for a long period of time with the board and there were some risks to this extension, potential credit risk and potential operational risk with the wholesale provider.  And at the time when we made a decision to exercise, we always had ‑‑ we informed the city at the time of that potential risk, and it was always intended that any cash windfall coming from this contract would basically be forwarded to the city.


It's not, like, a question of whose idea.  It was the process of deciding to exercise this option.  We always had the intention to go back and to provide the contribution to the city.


MR. KAISER:  This $100 million that you mentioned, the two years, it may be small compared to the city's budget, but that's new income.  The year before, they were getting zero dividend; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  They got $5 million, but they also got the $67 million.  So they got the interest the prior years.


MR. KAISER:  I realize you pay the interest every year since the beginning of time.  We are talking about the dividends.  All of a sudden, there's $100 million being paid out over two years.  This is a new event.  Was that their idea or your idea? You said, We have got too much cash?  Would you boys like some, or did they say, We need to get some money out of this business?


MR. COUILLARD:  I think it is more of a discussion process.  We review the business plan and we see -- if some part of our business are doing well, could we allow ourselves to pay, and it's the board's decision, ultimately, to --


MR. KAISER:  We know it's the board's decision, but clearly there was a change in policy.  Suddenly a decision was made to pay out some significant monies out of Toronto Hydro.  Was that at their initiative or at your initiative?


MR. COUILLARD:  It was the initiative of management to recommend to the board --


MR. KAISER:  So management made this proposal to the board, all of which are appointed to the city, saying, We propose that we pay out over two years $100 million.  That was management's proposal?


MR. COUILLARD:  The city came -- the city asked.  It was their -- you know, How is your financial situation?  Is there anything that we can any -- you know, any type of thing that ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  This shareholder directive, you've put it in evidence now.  It basically lays out the dividend plan, and you've had two of them.  There was an amendment to the initial one.  Was that at their initiative, or did you go to them and say, Boy, we would sure like to have a shareholder's directive as to what dividend policy should be with this company?


MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Chair, just a point of clarification before we get to your question.  Are you talking about dividends in general or the one-time dividend? 


MR. KAISER:  I'm talking about the two years.  There was 68 in one year and another 49 or something.  That's where we get the 100 million.  This is 2004 and 2005; correct?


MR. SARDANA:  Right.  So dividends -- I think you are getting at a point.  Dividends in general, to our shareholder, were contemplated in the original setup of all of these LDCs as Ontario Business Corporations Act companies.


MR. KAISER:  I understand, but they weren't paid outside of this 5 million you referred to.  All of a sudden you are paying out significant ‑‑ you started this business in June of 1999.  Now we're in 2003 and -- or 2004 and 2005, and all of a sudden we are getting these serious dividends, compared to, what, $5 million before that; is that right?


MR. SARDANA:  Yes, that's right.


MR. KAISER:  So from 1999 up until 2004, we've paid out 5 million, and in two years we pay out 100 million.  Have I got the numbers right?


MR. COUILLARD:  It's close, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  So it looks like there has been a change in policy on somebody's part, and presumably the shareholder.  He owns the company.  Wouldn't it be reasonable to assume that they dictate the dividend policy?  It's not management.


MR. COUILLARD:  The dividend policy included in the shareholder direction is a document that is adopted by council, so it is part of the ‑‑ it is at the request of the city.  However, the Board always has the discretion to declare or not, and in the past the Board has never -- like, we paid the dividend in 2000 -- first time in 2003, and then subsequently in '04 and '05, and the biggest reason why we pay dividend at that time is because of the states of our unregulated business and all the money that was generated from our energy services trading operations.  


That's really what triggers us going into the payout of these dividends, and, accordingly, we actually decided to change the dividend policy accordingly to really officialise the fact that it should be consolidated in net income, because really a lot of this -- I hate to say cash windfall, but a lot of this increase in income was related to our unregulated business.


MR. KAISER:  The initial dividend policy had nothing to do with the unregulated business.  It was 40 percent of the regulated income.


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, and it was not always paid to the City of Toronto.


MR. KAISER:  Of the 100 million, how much of that came from the unregulated --


MR. COUILLARD:  We undertook, through some of the questions you had this morning, to make that calculation.  We do not have it at this point.


MR. KAISER:  I'm sorry I interrupted you, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, let me just follow up on these dividends.  If the reason for the increase in dividends was because you were making all this money from unregulated businesses, then why isn't the dividend policy established on the basis of X percent of the unregulated income and Y percent of the regulated income?  Wouldn't that make sense?


MR. COUILLARD:  It could be a solution.  We've decided to go consolidated for now at the request of the city and through discussion with us.  We have also decided to reflect the incremental income in the unregulated business to actually go more than the 50 percent consolidated net income by declaring a special dividend last year, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, let me ask you a question about that.  That 30 million was because you had sort of a windfall in the commodity business, right, the trading business?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't mean windfall in a bad way.  Sometimes things work out; right?  But I thought I heard Mr. Haines maybe, or somebody the other day, say that at some point in the last couple of years you paid a special dividend to get your equity in THESL down to the board-approved amount; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, but his dividend was not paid to the City of Toronto.  That was paid to corporate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That was just inter-corporate.


MR. COUILLARD:  It's just inter-company cash movement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that has nothing to do with that $30 million?


MR. COUILLARD:  Nothing to do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And none of that got paid out to the city?


MR. COUILLARD:  Nothing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me come back to the price differentials, because it's my favourite subject.  And --


MR. SARDANA:   Excuse me, Mr. Shepherd.  One second.  Sorry, thank you.  


MR. SHEPHERD:   I'm just looking for the shareholder direction here.  There's nothing in the shareholder direction -- we were talking about the interests of the City in your rate levels; right?  Is there anything in the shareholder direction that directs you to try to keep your rates down?  


MR. COUILLARD:  I just need a moment.


There is no point that particularly addresses the level of rates.  However, there are several points that address customer satisfaction, and I would say the treatment of our customers and the type of service that we're bringing.  


As an example, section 2.3 -- section 2.2C talks about Toronto Hydro customers not to be dually impacted by the succession by Toronto Hydro Commission to Toronto Hydro Electric System Limited.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's just stop there. 


MR. COUILLARD:  I want to finish, please.  Section 2.3C: 



“Distribution rate applicable to customers of

the distribution company will be set by the board in accordance with the rates fixed by the OEB from time
to time.”  


And second E:



“Toronto Hydro will provide its services with an 



emphasis on customer orientation and customer 



satisfaction.”


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me deal with those, one by one.  2.2C doesn't say keep your rates down, it says in the amalgamation, don't nail your customers along the way; right?   


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, to me, I will interrupt that as making sure the customer gets the best rates. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but you didn't actually reduce your rates in amalgamation, did you?   When you amalgamated, did you reduce your rates?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  When we amalgamated, we had to harmonize rates.  So some customers were going up and some were coming down. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  On average, they were going up; right?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm trying to recall what rate applications we had back at that time.  I don't believe our requirement went up.  Or – 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Somewhere in the evidence, Mr. Zebrowski --


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I can’t recall.


MR. SHEPHERD: -- didn't you file a chart that shows the rates from the predecessors and the rates today?’


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, we did. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  It showed them all going up; right?  Or am I mistaken.  I don't even have it, I'm just trying to remember. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I don't think so.  We can reference that, but … 


MR. SHEPHERD:  We'll all look for it later.  Then 2.3C, that doesn't say keep your distribution rates down.  In fact, doesn't it say, distribution rates are not our problem, that’s the OEB's problem. 


MR. SARDANA:  I think it's clear to me it says that the board -- the City will rely on the Energy Board to carry out its mandate.  And to the extent that the Energy Board is responsible for setting just and reasonable rates, then the City will line up with that.  That's what it says to me. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fair.  That's fair.  In E, the emphasis on customer satisfaction, we have already heard Mr. O'Brien say that customers don't know you have high rates, do they. 


MR. COUILLARD:  I don't think that section E talks on this at all.  What that section talks about is that we have to maintain a high level of services and customer satisfaction, which is something that we've been consistently improving over the years. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have -- have you received any directions from your board of directors to keep rates down or to try to reduce rates?   


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, our board of directors when we prepared -- just maybe to put things into context.  This is the first rate application in a long time and –- 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me stop you.  It isn’t; is it?


MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you applied for rates last year when you got your third tranche from MARR; didn’t you? 


MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, yes, this was regulatory asset rates.  I'm more inclined to talk about cost-of-services, but if we --


MR. SHEPHERD:  We're going to come back to that, but go ahead. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Our board of directors was very interested in knowing what we were doing for customers and making sure the process that we had gone through in preparing this application would provide just and fair rates to our customers.  And as a matter of fact, both the shareholder and board of directors were happy to see our customers were getting a benefit.  And this benefit was really achieved through amalgamation and streamlining of the distribution company over the last couple of years. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you disclose to your board at the time that you showed them this application that your rates would still be higher than everybody else’s in the province?


MR. COUILLARD:  We were not in a position, obviously, at the time to look at others rates when we met with our board.  So this would not have been discussed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true, isn’t it, that your board has no idea the level of your rates relative to other utilities in the province; isn't that true?  You never told them. 


MR. COUILLARD:  I mean, they may have an idea.  Some of our board members could be, you know, sitting on other boards or could be part of our areas or living outside of Toronto and see their own rates.  As far as providing a full report on comparison, I think we've already made some points, and I would approach it the same way with the board -- with our own board on the fact that Toronto is different.  And that was actually highlighted in some of the reports provided by the Ontario Energy Board on comparators and cohorts. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, let's talk about that.  I'm going to come to the reasons for your rate differences in a second, but comparators and cohort, that whole process, didn’t talk about prices, did it, it talked about costs. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  At no time was there a comparison of top line prices, right, bills?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  But if you talk about costs, obviously it is directly related to rates.  I'm trying to follow where you are going. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what they said in that report is it is hard for us to compare Toronto's costs on individual items with any other utility.  Isn't that what they said?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, but costs obviously makes the rates.  So if you can't compare the costs, it would be very difficult to start comparing rates. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  There are some possible reasons for these price differences that are not within the control of Toronto Hydro; right?  Mr. Zebrowski, you were going to talk about them a second ago, and I just want to get to them in an organized way.  You have external factors that keep your rates higher than they might otherwise be, like the cost of living in Toronto. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That would be one, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so your employees -- now, your employees don't all live in Toronto; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, but in the general area, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have to compete in the labour market in Toronto or the GTA; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  As a result, you have to pay somewhat higher wages or salaries, compensation packages to people because the standards are higher in Toronto, right, standard rates are higher?   


MR. COUILLARD:  I'll take these series of questions if you don’t might.  


We are competing in this market.  One of the things that is a bit difficult here is everybody is in the same pension, OMERS pension.  So for somebody in our work force that lives outside of Toronto, if there is a position, say you're from Barrie, and Barrie Hydro is hiring, obviously the person might be willing to go accept a little bit of a lower wage in order not to do the hour commute.  That is a possibility, however, I can't attest to that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have data to show the Board that, A, there is, in fact, a higher wage rates in Toronto generally, and what that dollar impact is?


MR. COUILLARD:  We don't really have data on this, Mr. Shepherd.  We have never really gone to a full cost study.  As I mentioned earlier, we are undertaking that right now with Mercer, but we have not done a full analysis of all our salaries. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  We're going to talking about compensation levels in more detail in a second.  But I guess -- when you said that earlier, when you said you had never done a study of your rates, of your compensation levels, I thought to myself, you have almost 1,600 employees.  So what basis do you set their compensation levels if you've never than done any analysis?


MR. COUILLARD:  When, when we amalgamated, the -- maybe we can split it to talking about union employees and management, if you will allow me that.  When we amalgamated, we looked at all the different utilities and look at the different types of salary and what was paid in different areas.  


And then we created some band, basically, and these bands would have included some -- just trying to get my notes organized.  These bands would include a different type of level of complexity of the job, you know, problem-solving requirement, responsibilities, and we assessed the dollars that were, at the time, assessed in the former utility by bands.  So, for example, at the top of the band was, let's say, $70,000 for this type of responsibility.  Then when we did a full -- we did internal full job evaluation, and then we matched the job with these different bands.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just stop you for a second to understand that?  So you didn't look at external data to benchmark it or anything, but, internally, you harmonized the job descriptions across the various entities?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, we didn't harmonize the job description.  We went job by job and did a full job description and a full job assessment.  For example, if somebody that is a manager in the asset management group, here's all the responsibility, here's where it will fit into our band.  


Now, what we have done in 2006, and I point it to again, we just look, like, very high level, compare these bands to what Hay provided us with their database, and we found that we were in the 50th percentile from broader public sector and in 25th percentile from the normal GTA sector.  So that's for all management groups, supervisor and above.  From a union ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  Again, let me just stop you there so I don't forget the question.  So what that means is that comparing your compensation levels for supervisory, and above, to other public sector employers in the GTA, 75 percent of them were paying more than you?


MR. COUILLARD:  No public ‑‑ we were in 50th percentile.  I mean, we're like on average in ‑‑ we're in the average.  So for the broader public sector, we would be in the average, not higher nor lower.  And, you know, some job might be higher, some job might be lower, on average.  This is a very ‑‑ this is not a very scientific exercise.  This is just comparing database, so in some instance you'll compare somebody in a position in the asset management group here to somebody that works at the city in the works department.  So that could be one ‑‑ so these people will be in the same database.  


In comparison to the broader GTA sector, like, not the public sector, the private sector, then we are in the 25th percentile, meaning that, you know, approximately 75 percent were paid higher.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your supervisory and above employees are relatively poorly paid compared to other places they could be working?


MR. COUILLARD:  We didn't want to draw that conclusion, and when we got this data, we undertook to really do a full analysis, a full market analysis with Mercer, and that's why I really want to qualify this data, Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Chair, because it triggers us so a say, Okay, there might be some -- like, where are we in this market?  And we're doing right now a full market review.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Again, we're going to talk about compensation levels in a little more detail in a few minutes.  Just before I forget this, one of the ways that you could ‑‑ or let me put this another way.  You compete for people with other LDCs; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  In some areas, yes, but in some other areas we're competing with people that are in the private sector.  I come myself from the private sector.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  Certainly people with utility background, you're going to be competing with Enersource and London and people like that; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  If you look in the trade area, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But not in the management level?


MR. COUILLARD:  As well there in the management level, as well.  I think there are some places where we would be competing with utilities, but also with people from the private sector.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So do you compare your wage levels to other LDCs?


MR. COUILLARD:  We never got that data to be able to compare the data from other LDCs, and so we've never really conducted a full comparison of salary with other LDCs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that part of what Mercer is going to be doing?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Mercer is going to look at the whole thing.  I don't think that they only want to compare to other LDCs.  As we mentioned, we strongly believe that Toronto is different in this market, and that -- and so is Hydro One, and by no mean I mean that we want to be compared to Hydro One.  But there are other areas that we need to be compared to, and this study will encompass everything.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We went on to a frolic there, but the point we were talking about was how much of an impact is the fact that it's more expensive -- the wage levels are, on average, higher in Toronto.  And anecdotally you know that's true, but you have no data on how much impact that is?


MR. COUILLARD:  It depends on the -- I mean, I think it depends on the area.  I think, for example, from -- I was reading an article on something in a magazine recently that Toronto could be anywhere, depending on the job, between 15 and 30 percent higher, depending on the demand.  It's really a question of offer and demand for a finance professional, for example.  


Now, is the number 15, 20, 25, lower?  It's difficult for.  I don't think there's -- I mean, unless you want to introduce something as evidence, I don't have anything that really tells me, you know, that it is -- there is a particular number, but certainly I think we can certainly agree that something in between 15 to 25 percent might be something that would be reasonable.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Stats Canada publishes labour market statistics for every major area in Canada; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you ever looked at them?


MR. SARDANA:  I have, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you looked at them to assess how you compare relative to other areas?


MR. SARDANA:  Not specifically, no.  I've looked at them for other economic indicators that I follow.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We're still talking about why your prices might be higher, Mr. Zebrowski.  We seem to be able to do tangents quite well here.  One of the other reasons why your prices might be higher is because you have a relatively old system, right, and it's more expensive to run; is that true?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm not qualified to speak on the cost of running our system and how that relates.  That would be ‑‑ that kind of a question I think our operations panel would be more qualified to answer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Okay.  So you don't know whether your older system is part of the reason why your prices are so high?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Whether I could point to that as a specific reason for our price being high, I could not do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll ask panel 3 if they could help me with that.


One of the things that I've heard said from people from Toronto Hydro is you have so much of your cabling in underground ducts, not on poles, if you like, that it makes your system more expensive to build and to run; is that true?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Again, that's not an area, I don't think, for this panel.  That would have to go to panel 3, who would know much better than we would.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, there are also some factors ‑‑ before we leave that, can you think of some other reasons why your prices would have to be higher than Hamilton, for example, external factors?  I'm not talking about things within your control.  I'm talking about things you can't do anything about.  


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I can point to certain things.  I don't know what the actual impacts of these things are on the actual cost of running Toronto Hydro.  And, again, the operations panel could speak to them probably more directly.  But there is the density of Toronto.  It's very, very high density.  From what I've seen of costs, costs tend to decrease as density increases, but then they increase once you reach a certain point, so it becomes a U-shaped kind of a curve.  


My suspicion is Toronto is on the upside of that curve again.  That would contribute to cost.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So Mr. Adams ‑‑ I don't know whether Mr. Adams was asking this here or whether he was asking it in the other room.  I can't remember, but he was talking about the U-shaped curve and the fact Toronto Hydro has high rates over here, and Hydro One, which is a rural utility, has high rates over here.  That's sort of -- how could that be?  And you are saying it's because there is a natural curve to density?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  There is.  The operations panel can elaborate on this.  The system configuration becomes different once the density has increased beyond a certain point.  We have what is called a network system in the downtown core, and this is ‑‑ there's a high level of redundancy to ensure that there is a high level of reliability in the service to our customers in the downtown area.  That is an expensive system to run.


MR. SHEPHERD:  let me stop you there and ask about that one.  Why is that?  Why would you have to give more reliability in downtown Toronto than downtown Hamilton or downtown Ottawa?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I think that is partly just the nature of the kind of customers that we have.  We have the subway in Toronto.  Toronto is a financial centre for good part of Canada.  We have major hospitals in the downtown area.  We have these extremely high office towers.  


All these kinds of customers, it's essential that they have an extremely high level of reliability in their services.  It's expected that Toronto Hydro would provide that to them.  If we can’t provide that, I don’t think they would be necessarily settling here. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  And that is one of the things that attracts people to set up their businesses in downtown Toronto; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  They expect that reliability to be there, that’s right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You get that by building in extra redundancy in your systems, in part. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  In part.  And again, I think the operations panel can speak to what level of redundancy there really is.  I'm talking at a very theoretical level here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That’s fine.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  And again, land values in Toronto, as you know, are higher than anywhere else in the province.  If Toronto Hydro is purchasing land for anything, I'm not sure how recently we have bought anything, but certainly that would have an impact. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Land isn't a big part of your costs. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Certainly not, but it is a cost that historically has gone into rate base.  There are certain operating restrictions that we have.  And again, the operations panel can speak to this much better than I could.  But in terms of with rush hour, there are certain restrictions with when our crews can operate on the streets.  This has an impact in terms of the cost of running a business and just doing general maintenance work out on the utility. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.  But you don't have any data that would help us to disaggregate your price differential into those causes.  You never studied it. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, I just listed a very limited number of factors.  I’m sure there are hundreds more.  We have never analyzed anything like that, no. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's certainly helpful.  I want to turn to another topic area, and I guess this is probably for you, Mr. Couillard.  


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you turn to exhibit K2.2, the 2004 annual report.  I'm looking at page 28. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, Mr. Shepherd. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  We started to ask questions of Mr. O'Brien and Mr. Haines about this, and they tried their best, but eventually handed this over to you.  You can thank them for these questions. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Pleasure. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  The -- if I read this correctly, for 2004 your profit before interest and taxes, EBIT, E-B-I-T; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is $240 million in 2004; right?   


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  2003 it was $242 million. 


MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And 2002, much lower, $146 million. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I right that your rate base in 2004 was somewhere in the order of $185 billion?


MR. COUILLARD:  Approximately correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your gross rate of return, before accounting for the contributions for other businesses, would be somewhere in the order of 13 percent.  I understand we have to make adjustments, I'm just getting a starting point here.  The starting point is roughly 13 percent; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  This is a consolidated number.  This is not only the distribution company.  That is the entire corporation. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  We're going to segment in a minute.  


MR. SARDANA:  Yes, okay.  Let's go where you’re going, but it's not the right comparison.  This does not relate directly to the rate base. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Why?   


MR. SARDANA:  This is at a consolidated level, so we're comparing apples to oranges here. 


MR. COUILLARD:  We're haven’t reported anything yet. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's use net capital, but let's calculate it on a rate base level.  That’s that's fair; isn't it?  Calculate it the way you calculate a rate base.  Your net capital in 2004 was around 2 billion, right, including unregulated capital?


MR. SARDANA:  If you want to call it that, but you can get our net capital from these consolidated numbers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What is it?   


MR. SARDANA:  Well --


MR. COUILLARD:  1,895.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?


MR. COUILLARD:  We’ll accept the 1,895.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in 2004 your Board-approved rate of return, this is not ROE this is rate of return, am I right that it was somewhere around 6.5 percent roughly?  This is your blended equity and debt rate; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  There is no document no where that says that that was our Board-approved rate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You were allowed to recover your interest, which was mostly 6.8 percent; right?  True?


MR. COUILLARD:  Mostly. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  There was some at 6.17, but mostly 6.8; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you were allowed to recover two-thirds of your MAR, right, in 2004?


MR. COUILLARD:  It’s two-thirds of the change in MARR, not two-thirds of MARR.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Two-thirds of the change in MARR?   


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Maybe I can help with that.  We did have a return on equity figure prior going into the first exercise where we developed under the PBR mechanism.  And the way MARR was brought in, it was brought in, in three equal phases.  So it brought us from our existing ROE back in 1999 up to the full 9.88 percent in three equal phases.  So I can't recall what the going in figure was, but it was that increment that was brought in, in three phases.  It was the full 9.88 that was brought in, in thirds.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So do you know what the ROE was in 2004, the Board-approved?   


MR. COUILLARD:  No, no such thing has ever been calculated.  This was not the regime we were under.  


MR. ZEBROWSKI:   Just to assist with that too.  There was no requirement that we had to make whatever that blended figure was.  We were under PBR regime at the time.  There was no earning sharing or anything of the sort under our PBR regime over the last number of years.  So that if we exceeded the ROE, that was just a factor of whether we exceeded it or we came in under that number.  That was just a fact of life and there was no further variance from that that was going to be done anything with for the utility. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So now I understand.  Mr. Couillard, earlier today you said to somebody, I don't remember who, that your financial rate of return in 2004 was something like 8.5 percent.  Do you remember that?


MR. COUILLARD:  For the distribution company, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there were no over-earnings, but I guess the reason there were no over-earnings was, from your point of view, there couldn't have been over-earnings because you were under PBR; right? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  PBR, whether you over-earned or under-earned, it didn't matter.  There was no reason to note that and track that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it wouldn't be legitimate to compare your actual earnings in 2004 to some bench mark?   Like two-thirds of Board-approved?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, we never did that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  In this ramping in between your old ROE and your 9.88, would you accept that your 2004 figure wasn't more than about 7 percent; is that right?  Or was it more than that?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  One difficulty, we may be talking different numbers here.  There is an accounting ROE and there is a regulatory ROE as well, which may give different numbers. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why don't you tell us about that. 


MR. COCHRANE:  If we're just looking at financial statements, basically you are going to look at the equity that’s on the financial statement as denominator.  And you’re just going to take your net income off of your income statement and you are just going to do a ratio of the two.  


On a regulated basis, your equity is in fact 35 percent of your allowable rate base.  So that's not necessarily going to line up with the equity number that's on a financial statement.  


There could be other implications on the income that's reported for regulatory purposes versus one that's reported for financial purposes due to the nature of deferral accounts.  Whether they are deferred for accounting purposes or deferred for regulatory purposes will affect the net income.  So both the denominator and numerator in these equations can differ, depending on whether you're looking at it from an accounting perspective or a regulatory perspective.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's look at 2004 from an accounting perspective first.  All right, net income after tax, $97.3 million.


MR. COUILLARD:  That's a corporate figure, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And equity 821 million?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  ROE on a financial base, 12 percent?


MR. COUILLARD:  11.8.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Was it 11.8?  Okay.  And I assume that's higher than anything the board said was okay for THESL; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  That's on a consolidated level.  That includes significant contribution from our unregulated trading activities.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Shepherd, if we were to do the calculation just from the distribution company, this number is 8.5 percent, as I mentioned this morning.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's do that.  Can you turn to page 62, please?  Do you have that?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is your segmented earnings for 2004; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Not down to the net income level, though.


MR. SHEPHERD:  True.  $175 million EBIT; right? 


MR. COUILLARD:  For the regulated business, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Rate base, $1.85 billion?


MR. COUILLARD:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  9.5 percent rate of return; is that correct?


MR. COUILLARD:  It would be 9.2 percent based on my calculation, but, once again, that does not include any type of ‑‑ that is not what is your regulated rate of return, because that doesn't include any accounting reconciliation from -- an accounting to regulatory from an expense perspective.


MR. SARDANA:  You can also add that is a pre‑tax rate of return that you're quoting.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.  It's rate of return.  It's not ROE, it's rate of return; different concepts.  I understand.  175 divided by $1.85 billion is 9.4594 percent; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  I've got 9.23.  I'm not going to argue 4.2.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But you don't feel that we have anything we can compare that 9.5 to for 2004, right, because you didn't have a Board-approved rate of return, did you?


MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You'll accept that 9.5 is more than the Board has approved for any other utility in the last few years; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  I do not know that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, we just got 9.5 and you told us your number is 8.5.  Can you tell us how you got that one?


MR. COUILLARD:  The number from our ROE number is basically taking the equity ‑‑ the net income after tax from the utility, divided by the equity number of the utility.  That's the accounting way of calculating such thing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So net income after tax from the utility is what?


MR. COUILLARD:  I do not have this figure handy.  Give me a moment.  I'll try to see if I have them with me, Mr. Shepherd.  Section 213 of the application shows the ‑‑ sorry, shows the audited financial statements for 2004 for THESL.  Net income for THESL in 2004 was $60.1 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, help me out with this.  $175 million, you have to deduct interest and you have to deduct taxes, so interest and taxes are 115 million?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then you are taking that $60.1 million and you are dividing it by $650 million, your equity?


MR. COUILLARD:  The equity is $705 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand that, because I looked in your application and it says your rate base in 2004 was 1.850 billion.  


MR. COUILLARD:  The equity number is the sum of share capital, retained earnings, and contributed surplus.  If you look at section 2.3 of the application, where the financial statements are, that's a definition of equity.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, except we just heard that when you are doing ROE, you are doing it on a deemed equity of --


MR. COUILLARD:  I'm giving you the number equity that was calculated from an accounting.  All along, what I mentioned is this is a number from an accounting perspective.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now I understand.  So your 8.5 is an accounting number?


MR. COUILLARD:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you did it instead on a regulatory basis, it would be higher, because you would have a lower denominator?


MR. COUILLARD:  We have not done this exercise fully.  We have not do any -- what you are doing is taking a quick shortcut to just one of the composite of the calculation, because there will be other adjustments, such as weather normalized and some of the other expenses that are included in there.  So the full sum of doing the entire reconciliation from accounting to regulatory, we have never done this calculation and it is not as simple as just taking the rate base and using the net income.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this of course -- all this discussion assumes that your allocation of revenue and expenses as between regulated and unregulated is correct; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so let me just ask you a couple of questions about that, because you have this 97 million that you made after tax in 2004, and I heard you say that you made $17 million after tax on the commodity business; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, that was only on one deal.  There was way more money made in the commodity business.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have these different unregulated businesses, and you say here on this, still on page 62 here, that those businesses made $65 million in 2004; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Can you just point me where ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 62, same page we were on.


MR. COUILLARD:  Before taxes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Before taxes, before interest, right.  There wasn't much interest; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  There is some interest in there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It actually says $2.9 million, so it's not very much; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But then you have taxes on that.  That's $65 million?


MR. COUILLARD:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the taxes are going to be about, what, $20 million?


MR. COUILLARD:  I would need to verify.  The derivative business tax is fairly complex, from an accounting perspective, so I would have to go back in my notes and check how much tax we paid.


Approximately, I believe there's about $37 million coming from the unregulated business in the $97 million, Mr. Shepherd.  And it's all coming from the energy services ‑‑ like, trading operation.  From a telecom perspective and a street lighting perspective, these businesses were breaking even or barely, and the energy -- within the energy services company, the trading operation, which is basically just a couple of contracts being collected every month, the contract that we were lucky to sign before market opening priced very advantageous to us.  These contracts don't really require any effort, but the significant portion of this amount was related to ‑‑ but the $37 million is related to these transactions, this wholesale trading transaction.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All of it or ‑‑


MR. COUILLARD:  Within, like, a million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  So that was -- you had that in 2003, as well?


MR. COUILLARD:  There was a significant portion in 2003, as well.  The market opened in 2002.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because I heard you say, whenever, I don't remember - yesterday, perhaps - that you had $60 million from this in 2004, '05 and '06, and you signed it in late 2003, and then 2004, '05 and '06 you got this money?


MR. COUILLARD:  That was the extension of the initial wholesale deal that we have.  One of the -- probably half of our trading portfolio that started at market opening in 2002, half of that we were able to extend, and because the price was very advantageous, we decided to take the extension.  Now, this contract was in place from May 2002 as the market opened.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  So that's why you don't have much in 2002, because you hadn't had a chance to make any money on this yet.


MR. COUILLARD:  And there were a lot of challenges related to market opening as well, to say the least.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so we can take it that you've got $37 million in 2004.  Do you know the number in 2005 for that?


MR. COUILLARD:  I can't really speak to that number. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because?


MR. COUILLARD:  Because it's confidential information.  Right now we have not released our number for 2005, our net income number. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I’m not asking you the net income, I'm just asking you the trading number. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Exactly.  That's part of our confidential information that Mr. Rodger is planning to address with the Board on Monday or Tuesday. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  We'll get to it then.  


Do you have a projection for 2006 for that? 


MR. COUILLARD:  Once again, this is forward-looking information that we are trying address or are seeking counsel on how we can release this information. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that business, as I understand what you're saying, you have hardly any expenses allocated to that. 


MR. COUILLARD:  The business that is related to administering these contracts, Mr. Shepherd, there are probably six employees in the Energy Services company that are paid by Energy services that are doing the monthly settlement with the -- settlement with the IESO.  It’s a pure swap, and half of it is hedged with a contract with the City of Toronto that was negotiated.  And so if you look at the amount of work that is done, there is very little expense because there's very little to do. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have very little in the way of interest expense; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a few million dollars of interest expense, but not a lot; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Interest expense?  Yeah, and it is mainly related to some of these contracts where you’ll have prudential requirements, things like that to maintain. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  This Board should understand - tell me whether I've got this right - that this comes to an end at the end of 2006.  So after that time, your income is going to be almost entirely THESL income; right?   


MR. COUILLARD:   Well, you know, we would like to -- there's definitely going to be a significant drop in our net income because this business is going away.  And the other activities of the unregulated business are nowhere near the activities when you consider you need about 5 to 10 people at maximum and earn that kind of money.  I wish we can prolong the contract, but unfortunately I don't think our counter-party would be agreeable to extend this contract any more, under the same terms.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you for that.  


Mr. Chairman, I'm turning to go a new area.  Did you have a time that you wanted to do the afternoon break?   


MR. KAISER:  If this is convenient we'll take it now. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm good now, yes. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger, yesterday you asked if we could break early.  Is that still the case or not?


MR. RODGER:  I made reference to a witness on the next panel if we got that far.  So we're happy to go a bit longer today if that suits the Board. 


MR. KAISER:  We'll go to 4:30 then.  We'll take the afternoon break at this point.  20 minutes.


--- Recess taken at 2:45 p.m.

‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 3:13 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, just before we resume, I just wanted to deal with one preliminary matter, and that has to do with the McShane letter that I entered first thing this morning. 


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  I just wasn't sure I could get Board direction on whether you would like us to call Ms. McShane as a witness on Tuesday to explain this further.  I just wasn't sure of the position of the Board, or the Board counsel.  And let me just -- I might say, as an aside, that over the lunch break I got a call from another distributor client who was applying under historical test year, and the message was, Do we have to revise our application? 


So I just flag that, because I think this has created some uncertainty for the sector and any guidance would be greatly appreciated.


MR. KAISER:  Creating additional business for you and all your multiple clients.


I had asked you, Mr. Millar, if you would respond to this.  I don't know whether you are ready to do that now, or not.  Basically I think I had asked you whether you accepted the corrections that Ms. McShane had suggested were appropriate.


MR. MILLAR:  I think the short answer is, no, Mr. Chair.  We don't intend to cross‑examination Ms. McShane, because we don't dispute her math and the way she computed the numbers.  There are no errors in calculation.  I think where the dispute lies is in how the methodology is to be applied.  


So our argument, based on this, we stand by the 9 percent and we stand by the calculation in ‑‑ I can't recall the exhibit number, but the exhibit number that showed the 8.36.  But we wouldn't have any specific questions for Ms. McShane, because we just take a different view on how the methodology is to be applied.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I understand the difference between the two calculations, and I guess I'm not sure I understand how the Board's going to decide between them if it doesn't hear some analysis of what the difference is and why the difference is.  And what I would think might be helpful, and I'm not saying this necessarily from our point of view, but, rather, it's just generally from the process point of view, is for Mr. Ritchie, who did the Board's calculation, and Ms. McShane to both provide the Board with their information as to why they did it the way they did, and what the difference is and why the difference is, and so the Board can then make an assessment as to which is the right way to go.  I, frankly, think it's a difficult question. 


MR. KAISER:  I think we understand the difference in views between Board Staff and Ms. McShane.  She basically says if you are going to do a mechanistic calculation, do all of them, which involves an additional adjustment figure that Board Staff didn't do.  I think that can be dealt with in argument.  


I don't know that -- you are you're sticking by your calculation and she's sticking by hers, or I should say that utility is I sticking by hers.  Of course, they take the view that they'd just as soon use 9 percent, in any event.  But barring that, if there are changes to be made, you say the change becomes whatever it is, 8.3 - I can't remember - and Mr. Rodger would say if you are going to make the change, you don't have the right number.  But I think that's all argument.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That wasn't what I was speaking to, actually, Mr. Chairman.  My concern is - and I've talked with Mr. Ritchie about how he did his calculation and why, and it seems to me that there is more explanation about why that method was necessary, why the risk premium had to be fixed in order to calculate it correctly.  Nobody has told the Board yet why that is the case.


MR. KAISER:  I guess the question is:  Can you do that in argument, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, again, this is obviously a very important issue, because this potentially impacts on all of the historic test year filers, as well.  So I want to make sure I get an answer from the Board that accurately reflects ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  We don't need to deal with this right now.  Why don't you -- I know you've been tied up here all week.


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I could ask you, Mr. Shepherd.  Are you suggesting perhaps we could call Mr. Ritchie as a witness, or something of that nature?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And then I don't know Mr. Rodger's feeling on this, but would you also want to call Ms. McShane to give her view, or do you stand by the letter?


MR. RODGER:  I think I tend to agree with Mr. Shepherd.  I think it would be helpful to clarify this once and for all, and I don't think ‑‑ if I can just speak for a moment on behalf of the broader LDC sector, I don't think there's an understanding at all of what the Board Staff has done now to reach the conclusion that it has, because I think the view has been is that to get to the 2006 handbook last April, that the Cannon mechanistic update was in fact applied.


MR. KAISER:  In any event, I don't want to put you on the stump, Mr. Millar.  I want you to take the time to get this right.  It's sufficient for the purpose of -- this case is going to go on into next week -- that you advise us of the Board Staff position when we reconvene on Tuesday.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Because it does have broader implications, and I suspect you are going to have to talk to some other people about ‑‑ as Mr. Rodger pointed, one part of this is how it impacts this case.  It's a question of whether we're going to -- what the Board's policy is going to be in terms of this number in a larger generic fashion.  So consult with the proper people over the weekend and let us know what your position is on Tuesday.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


MR. RODGER:  In that case, Mr. Chairman, should I take it that I don't have to arrange to have Ms. McShane to come on Tuesday?


MR. KAISER:  Not at this point.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd, are you ready to proceed?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Is the Board's intention to sit until 4:30?


MR. KAISER:  We're in your hands.  It's been a long week.  If you want to just go to 4:00, if you want to go to 4:30, you tell us.  I had initially thought we were breaking earlier to assist Mr. Haines.  I don't know whether he still needs to get to the airport or he doesn't need to get to the airport, or what the situation is.  I'm sure that Mr. O'Brien will want him to stay here until the very last moment.  We're in your hands.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm happy to go as long as want, Mr. Chairman.  I'm not going to finish today.  Whichever you prefer is fine with me.


MR. KAISER:  What's your preference, Mr. Rodger?  These are your witnesses.  They have been on the stand for a long time.  We're open to whatever you want.


MR. RODGER:  Well, maybe we could have an earlier today, since you are going to be back next week in any event, sir.


MR. KAISER:  That makes sense.


MR. KAISER:  Is that all right will you, Mr. Millar?  You don't mind breaking half an hour earlier?  You're not going to report me to the Chairman?  All right.  Proceed, Mr. Shepherd.


FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm hoping, Mr. Chairman, that the Chairman is listening to this in his office, of course.


We were talking, witnesses, about the profit in 2004 and I just had one more question on this.  As I understand what you said, Mr. Couillard, the profit basically is, all-in, $60 million in the regulated utility, $37 million in this commodity trading activity?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Was any profit allocated to Toronto Hydro Corporation on a non-consolidated basis?


MR. COUILLARD:  It might not be zero, but it would be, like, you know, lower than 500,000.  I mean, the -- of the corporation is not to be a profit centre.  If there would have been some costs unallocated there, it would be very immaterial.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Well, see, I would have thought the answer would have been zero.


MR. COUILLARD:  The answer is, in theory, zero.  There could have been left like, let's say, $100,000 and we didn't think it was material enough to reallocate these cost and we'd have left it at the corporate level.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there might be a loss in THC?


MR. COUILLARD:  No.  The way we are doing our accounting is THC costs are all allocated now.  If at the end of the year, you know, when you get towards the end of the year and you're closing your books, there would be like, let's say, a correction of a 100,000 there.  We might not go through the allocation, but the goal or the objective is that this is zero.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true -- I'm turning to another area now.  We're still on high rates, a thematic thing.


MR. COUILLARD:  Your view.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Zebrowski, you were in a PBR regime until last year, right, until 2005?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Including ‑‑ well, it started out as a PBR regime and became a rate freeze after Bill 210.  Whether you can still call it a PBR regime, I don't think it truly was.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  It was a rate freeze; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And there was a bit of the luck of the draw there, wasn't it, in the sense that some utilities that go into the rate freeze had reasonably high rates, and they had some room -- they had some profits already, and other utilities were really hammered by that, because they had quite low rates or because they had very little room in their profit, right, across the province?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I wouldn't characterize it that way.  I mean, the profit is the market‑based rate of return that was being phased in for utilities.  It's true that there may be different utilities that were at different stages of phasing in their market-based rate of return.  If I recall, most utilities had the second phase already completed, but there were a number of utilities that maybe had only the first phase implemented, or possibly even none of it implemented. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  But I wasn't thinking of that so much as the fact that your cost, your cost-of-service wasn't being changed; right?  


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's not profit. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand.  But some utilities had enough cost-of-service that they could carry on fine and still make good money, and others had a problem; right?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Well, rates were based on 1999 cost levels.  So depending what utility was experiencing in 1999 in terms of their overall cost -- in 1999, if the cost levels were relatively high in the sense that they weren't really running a very efficient organization, then I guess that would be a benefit that they probably would have carried on after that period of time, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and the other thing, I guess, is that whether you were efficient or not, if you had something happening during that process, like for example, you had amalgamation, right. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, amalgamation preceded that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  But a lot of the savings from amalgamation came after 1999, didn't they?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Some of them.  Amalgamation happened January 1st, 1998.  Toronto Hydro became incorporated July, I believe, 1999.  There was a major package offered to employees in I believe it was 1998.  Many employees left at that point in time.  PBR didn't itself start until early 2001. 


MR. SHEPHERD   You were still - I wasn't going to say harmonizing, but that's what I mean - integrating the six predecessor utilities and getting efficiencies even as late at 2004; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I think Mr. Haines even spoke to that.  That's still being carried on today in terms of the control room even. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly, exactly.  So that created an opportunity for you because with amalgamation, although you had some up-front costs, no question you got whacked in '98 with a lot of the severance costs and things like that. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Along the way you also had an opportunity to get a lot of efficiencies that a utility like, I don't know, Brantford wouldn't have the opportunity to get; right?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Through which means?   


MR. SHEPHERD:  Through the savings efficiencies through amalgamation. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Amalgamation.  I mean, different utilities had different opportunities.  At the same time, I think there were different costs being experienced by the utilities due to market opening and so on.  We went through that in the regulatory asset proceeding.  I think that demonstrated that there were different utilities -- well, I mean, some had to buy all new CIS systems, some -- converting.  The costs were all over the place because, depending on where the utility was going into these things, there were opportunities and there were new costs throughout the entire period for every utility. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I can understand and I guess you can understand that the utilities that went into this process, the restructuring process, and they had relatively low rates or the cost-of-service that they had authorized was tight, and they had lots of new things they had to spend money on, they feel a bit unfairly treated, right, because they didn't get a chance to really recover enough.  They had to be tighter than they should have been.  True?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  As I recall, back when we first entered the first PBR regime, there was quite a bit of discussion amongst utilities, some claiming that they were already more efficient than others going into that regime.  But, I mean, these were claims being put forward by utilities, there was never a really good way of measuring that in terms of what their efficiencies were going into that exercise.  


And that, of course, led to discussions of should the more efficient utilities be held to a lower productivity factor or not?  These are all the types of discussions that happened back at that time, but there was never anything put forward as objective evidence to either prove or disprove any of those assertions. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  One of the ways you could test efficiencies is by rate levels; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  By rate level?


MR. SHEPHERD:  People who are more expensive, generally, in the business world, are generally less efficient. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  If you are comparing two identical products, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So my client has been asking -- obviously they are following this case.  There are 900 schools and 4 school boards in this city.  It makes a difference to them.  They are asking me a common sense question, and I’m just going to put this question to you.  You are earning lots of money over this period, and I understand that your shareholder needed some money and the chair has asked you questions about that.  


But there's a point at which you have to wonder, when you are earning that much money, why didn't you reduce your rates?   You could have, right, come to the Board?  The Board wouldn't have said, No, go away.  You could have said, We're earning lots of money, we want to get our rates down to a more reasonable level.  Why didn't you do that?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  A utility is entitled to its fair net income, and that net income is built into the rate.  The Board established what a fair net income is for a utility to earn, and that's how the rate was established. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you are earning lots and lots of money, you shouldn't be looking at giving some of that back to your customers?


MR. COUILLARD:  I think, Mr. Shepherd, we do look at any given time what we believe is fair.  During this period of time, as we mentioned, we've looked at our overall structure.  And the comment that you made that we’re making a lot, lot, lot of money, we mentioned before that a lot of that money was coming from unregulated business not really related.  There is a different risk profile, not really related to the present case here.  


We've been, all along, looking at getting more efficient and really, if you look at the LDC, I mean, the LDC has lost money in the last couple of years.  If I remember well --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, has lost money?   


MR. COUILLARD:  As a corporation, if I remember well, in the early days, we've lost some money, even after amalgamation.  So the issue here is, we reduced our operating expense all along.  We believe we provided a fair return to our shareholder and we believe that the customers’ reliability and service were improved during that time.  


That's why we are here today, now, when we believe that the savings that we have made are now savings that are going to be consistent and savings we can project in the future.  And that’s why we are asking today rate reduction. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me just -- I just want to deal with one thing you just said.  The LDC lost money.  When was that?   


MR. COUILLARD:  Subject to check, if I remember well, in the year 2000.  I can check that, but there was certainly not the same level than we have now. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, oh, so you made money, just not as much?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, no.  I do recall a year where the LDC had some difficulties.  And to make that even further, we experienced some significant cash issues after market opening.  We were faced with the high price on the -- faced with very high energy price and margin calls from the IESO.  


I remember well, and our treasurer can attest to that, when we were struggling to see where can we find money.  We had basically no money.  We had to go and beg for the bank to actually loan us money, and you see the lines that we have right now.  


So I would have felt very imprudent at the time to go for a rate reduction when we had actually problem making ends meet from a cash perspective at that time. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and this is actually that period, 1999, 2000, 2001 when Mr. Zebrowski already said you had a bunch of expenses associated with bringing everything together and with market opening. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Actually no, it was in 2002.  It was following market opening.  The burden that was put on the LDC from a prudential perspective.  And this has all led to us issuing debt after that, to make sure that the LDC had sufficient money to cover all their prudential requirements with the IESO, able to pay for the electricity on an ongoing basis.   And it was very difficult for us, not really knowing where the market was going, not really knowing how much money we needed as an LDC to operate in this market, you know, to go and to reduce rates. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm a little confused here.  Go back to page 62 of your 2004 financials.  This is exhibit K2.2.  

Do you have that?


MR. SARDANA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Doesn't that say your EBIT in 2002 was $145 million?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, but that's not cash.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So in 2002 you weren't losing money?


MR. COUILLARD:  I didn't say we were losing money in 2002.  If I recall, in 2002 we were.  But in 2002, we had a significant cash crisis where we had an issue paying an IMO bill that was coming in and we didn't have the cash to pay for it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In 2004, we've already seen you made 9‑1/2 equity, right, something like that?


MR. COUILLARD:  That's your calculation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you've admitted to 8-1/2 percent?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But instead of saying, Well, we better share some of this with our ratepayers who are obviously paying a lot, instead, in 2005 you came into the Board and you asked for a 12 percent rate increase, isn't that right, and got it for your third tranche of MARR?


MR. COUILLARD:  I don't know.  I'm trying to see if the 12 percent is the accurate number.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's hard to tell.  You have to go along the bill impacts and make an estimate.


MR. COUILLARD:  What I can attest to is we came and asked for recovery on our regulatory asset during that proceeding.  I cannot attest to 12 percent, but I do know that Toronto Hydro was awarded to recover these costs through rate riders.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was $40-odd million in additional revenue requirement; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That is correct.


MR. COUILLARD:  You're talking about MARR 3?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. COUILLARD:  That's the CDM money.  This increase for us does not really improve the financial situation of Toronto Hydro.  This -- all this money is spent towards CDM initiatives.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a rate increase; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a rate increase?


MR. COUILLARD:  It is a rate increase that is directly dedicated to CDM.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are not giving it back in 2006, are you?  You get to keep it in 2006?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, the 2006 rates are being worked on right now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  My point is this:  You were already making roughly your Board-approved rate of return in 2004.  You came in and said, We want some more money so we can make our Board-approved rate of return.  Why did you do that?


MR. COUILLARD:  I disagree with that.  Nowhere have we admitted that we are making the Board-approved rate of return, and then we are going for more money.  I think we've even acknowledged, prior, that there's no such thing as a Board-approved rate of return for 2005.  We followed the direction of the OEB in regards to CDM initiatives, and we participated in this initiative and I think we've demonstrated over the last year that we've been one of the top players in the industry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When we see your financial statements for 2005, we'll be able to calculate your ROE; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, if the audited financial statements were presented, yes, the same way we've done it for 2004.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So why don't we leave this to then.  Let's move to another area, and that is what your rates would be on a historical test year basis.  We asked your witnesses on Tuesday about this, Mr. O'Brien and Mr. Haines.  And we asked -- we thought the number would be $433 million, but we understand that's not correct.  Can you tell us what the correct number is?


MR. SARDANA:  No, we cannot.  An historical test year in our case is irrelevant.  We're filing on a forward test year basis.  That's what's before us.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  I have in front of me Exhibit C to your application, and it's sheet 5‑5.  This is your EDR model, 5‑5.  Do you have that?


MR. SARDANA:  We're pulling it up now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think Mr. Millar has copies of this.  The one thing I had a chance to make copies of, Mr. Chair.


MR. MILLAR:  I think we're at K4.11, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K4.11:  EXHIBIT C TO THC'S APPLICATION, SHEET 5‑5, EDR MODEL.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And whoever wants to answer this, can you tell me what this is?


MR. SARDANA:  Schedule 5‑5 is our base revenue requirement under forward test year application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, tell me whether this is correct.  The top number, $481 million, includes your cost of service, your amortization, your taxes and your return?


MR. SARDANA:  Yes, that's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then what you have to do is you have to look at what other charges do you have that ‑‑ what other revenue are you getting or you expect to get that you aren't getting through rates, because that stuff you don't need to collect in rates; right?


MR. SARDANA:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That total is $245.5 million?


MR. SARDANA:  That's our forecast, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you get to this $446.8 million; right?


MR. SARDANA:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you have a small adjustment here for low voltage costs?


MR. SARDANA:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that gets you to 456.7, which is how much you collect from your regular customers; right?


MR. SARDANA:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, this is the result, the revenue requirement result, of your forward test year filing; right?


MR. SARDANA:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have another document, and this is also called 5‑5, base revenue requirement, and that was originally filed by the company as B with your historical data.  And I understand that you've written a letter to the Board, which you tabled the other day, that says that that document that you filed, which included all the historical data in the EDR model and calculated revenue requirement automatically, that you didn't intend to file the whole thing.  You only intended to file the raw data, not the results of it; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That was filed with a number of other sheets, but there are about 100 other sheets in advertently, and this was something -- as we converted the model over to handle the rates on a forward test year basis, this was some of the old stuff that had become irrelevant on a forward test year filing.  It was just a product of what the model spit out, and our intent was to cover those cells in the spreadsheet and hide them, because they didn't mean anything anymore.  


Unfortunately, they were sent out in the first package and they were followed up with that letter to try to clear that up.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You know, I'm just reading your August 17th letter, Exhibit K3.3, and it doesn't sound like it is saying that.  What it sounds like it's saying is, We filed the spreadsheet and we wanted to hide some stuff on it and we forgot.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  The reason we wanted to hide it is because it was irrelevant and all it would do is confuse the issue, as it has in this particular case, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because what you were trying to do was you were taking the EDR model, the historical model, and you were trying to use that as a convenient way of giving the Board your raw data for 2002, '03 and '04; right?  You weren't trying to do any calculations from it, just give the raw data?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, as shown on sheet 2‑2, as was re-filed with the Board, that is the raw 2004 data.  That was the intent of what should have originally been there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the problem was that the model, being -- having a mind of its own, took your data and calculated everything that it was supposed to calculate, including revenue requirement; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  It took the raw, base 2004 data and carried on doing some calculations with it, unadjusted.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Unadjusted, of course.  We're going to get to that.


So, Mr. Chairman, I would like to file as an exhibit, and my friend has copies, the sheet 5‑5, which you've already seen on Monday, by the way, from that historical filing.  And I should stipulate, Mr. Chairman, because I know the company doesn't want to talk about this, but I stipulate that what I want to do is find out from them the ways in which this information is wrong so we can see if we can find out what the right numbers are.


MR. KAISER:  I'm a little bit confused.  They have filed on the basis of a forward test year.  The model spit out some information on a historical year, which they have retracted.  What do we get by mucking around and going through what a historical test year would have looked like if they had filed it, when they haven't filed it?


MR. SHEPHERD:  They have reported on what they did in their filing that is different from a historical test year.  It said, we make these adjustments, and these adjustments had this impact.  And we would like to test whether that is correct.  They have said it's around 10 million dollars.  I don't remember what the number is.  And we don't think that's correct.  And we think there are other adjustments in there that they haven't talked about, and we would just like to see what they are. 


MR. KAISER:  Let's suppose, at the end of the day, we find out what it would have looked like had they filed on a historical test year.  Where does that get us?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It tells us that the adjustments they said they made aren’t all of the adjustments.  


So for example, one of the lines I'm going to go to is the revenue offsets for other income and deductions, because it’s different in historical than it is in the forward test year.


MR. KAISER:  At the end of the day, going through this analysis will help us whether they have filed properly with respect to the forward test year. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right. 


MR. KAISER:  All right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  We’re not in any way taking a position that the historical test year is some sort of base of what they should have. 


MR. KAISER:   I understand now. 


MR. MILLAR:  K4.12.  

EXHIBIT NO. K4.12:  SHEET 5-5, ENTITLED “BASE REVENUE REQUIREMENT”

MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Millar, what was the number again, 4.12?   


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's right. 


MR. SARDANA:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I just have a few questions on this.  This shows a base revenue requirement of $387.3 million.  That can’t be right; right?  Because that doesn't include taxes. 


MR. COUILLARD:  That does not include tax. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your PILs in your forward test year, which has many of the same numbers, is about $47 million; right? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm sorry, Mr. Shepherd, I don't think we have that sheet.  Oh, I'm sorry.  


MR. SHEPHERD:   You were going to do it from memory, though, weren't you?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Hardly. 


MR. COUILLARD:  We're not familiar with this.  We would need time to review where these numbers are coming from.  This was not intended to be filed and this is -- like, the numbers that are in there were obviously -- we need to understand how these numbers were put in there. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand, and I expect some of this stuff is going to be by way of undertaking.  I'm not going to ask you to make the stuff up on the spot.  You are aware, I think, Mr. Sardana has already said this $387.3, this does not include recovery for PILs; right? 


MR. SARDANA:  That's correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  The recovery for PILs in your forward test year is 47. 


MR. SARDANA:  I will take your word for it.  I don’t have that in front of me, but -- 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Approximately correct.  So on a historical test year basis, the recovery for PILs isn't going to be more than 47, is it? 


MR. SARDANA:  Let's again put this in context.  The recovery for PILs can only be determined after we go through, in painstaking detail, all the adjustments to this unadjusted data you that you have presented before us.  And so I can't tell you if the quantum of PILs is going to be higher or lower.  


Clearly these revenue offset numbers are unadjusted.  If we had filed on a historical test year basis, we would have gone through these numbers in a much more careful manner, and done the proper adjustments, and then sent it through the PILS model to come up with the base revenue requirement. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I know the PILs model is complicated.  I spent more time than I would have cared to spend looking at it.


But it is true that, on a rough basis, PILs is going to go up or down with rate base; right?   


MR. SARDANA:  On a rough basis, sure. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if your rate base is lower on a historical test year basis, which it would be; right?   


MR. SARDANA:  Yeah, we have not gone through the whole model on a historical test year basis.  It could be lower, it could be higher.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your 2004 --


MR. SARDANA:  You would have to go through each of these accounts and adjust them, and go through it and apply all the tier 1 adjustments, which we chose not to do.  As Mr. Haines painstakingly pointed out, we went through the model at very rudimentary level, looked at the numbers and said, Okay, this isn't going to suit us because we know about our costs.  We know where they are going.  We have some pretty good ideas on some of the forecast elements that are coming up.  We are going forward test year. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, Mr. Haines told us the other day that you ran the model and you figured out what the revenue requirement was going to be and it was too low; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  This is absolutely not what Mr. Haines said.  Mr. Haines said that we did a preliminary run of the model putting unadjusted numbers in.  We didn't run a full model.  Then we decided to move on to the right methodology, to go with forward test year. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, I'm having a hard time understanding that.  Because on the one hand, it is clear that you rejected the historical year basis because it was going to give you too low a revenue requirement.  You knew that.


MR. COUILLARD:  We did not do the full analysis.  We believe that it could have been lower, but if we would have done the full analysis, it could have been higher.  We believe that we wanted to move to forward test year because it was the better way to do this kind of analysis. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me just ask you some questions about the revenue offsets here.  You'll see, and I'm putting the two exhibits, K4.12 and 4.11 beside each other so we can see the lines.  


MR. SARDANA:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  We can see that your forecast for specific service charges in the test year is identical to your 2004 actuals; right?   


MR. SARDANA:  Sorry, could you please repeat that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your forecast of specific service charges for the test year is identical to your 2004 actual. 


MR. SARDANA:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that's, in fact, not done on a forward test year basis, that's simply you took the 2004 number; right?   


MR. SARDANA:  No.  I think we -- for the forward test year filing, schedule 5-5, the 456.796 at the bottom, we would have gone through it for the specific service charges from sheet 5-2, and gone through each account element and said, Fine those are our costs.  Now, again, keep in mind that some of these -- when you go through an unadjusted model, some of the numbers are going to come out the same, some of them are not.  This might be one of the service charge elements that comes out the same. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I was asking you is did you forecast these or not.  And you're telling me that you forecast them, and accidentally they came out, to the dollar, to the same number. 


MR. SARDANA:  Again, you know, maybe it's semantics, but we might have examined some cost elements and said, Fine, there's no change.  In fact, it's quite acceptable, in forecasting terms, to have a no change forecast for some cost elements. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So similarly with late payment charges, you used the same numbers as in 2004 because you expected that the test year would be the same as 2004. 


MR. SARDANA:  You know, again, I think we would have gone through late payment charge history and looked and it and said, Is this reasonable for our 2006 level.  Let's put it in.


That's what we likely have done and, in fact, I assure you that's what we did do. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  After doing that, you said there is no reason to change this.  2004 looks like a good estimate for 2006.  


MR. SARDANA:  That’s right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fair.  


The next number you did make some change, only a small one, 400,000, you wouldn't know what that is, would you, of the distribution revenue?


MR. SARDANA:  Yes, we would.  


MR. COCHRANE:  That’s the actual implementation of Board-prescribed rates for specific non-distribution activities, and they are actually detailed.  It says right on the sheet, that they come from sheet 5-3.  So our historical rates were not in line with the most recent guidance from the Board. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  For what?   


MR. COCHRANE:  Well, the types of services are those described on 5-3.  What are the specific rated services, I couldn't tell you off the top of my head.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So let's get to the only one that is really material, and that is other income and deductions.  There you've got a $14.3 million reduction in your forward test year from your historical.  As I understand what you were saying earlier, there are some components to that.  Can you tell us what those are again?   


MR. SARDANA:  What I can speak to is a forward test year sheet.  And I can tell you that the some of the large components in that category, the 3.3 million, is an interest income line that came down drastically. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is that?


MR. SARDANA:  Interest from regulatory assets is coming down because we have started to collect on those assets, so we don’t have as much cash coming in from that bucket, if you will. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Interest on regulatory assets is treated as a revenue item?  Doesn’t it go into the variance account?   


MR. SARDANA:  Sorry, I've just been corrected.  It is investment income that is coming done because we’re holding much lower cash balances.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And why is that?


MR. SARDANA:  As you've seen, we've readjusted THESL from a balance sheet perspective.  We dividended up to corp last year.  We're holding lower cash.  I think ‑‑ yes, if you look at the 2006 proformas which are filed as part some of the IRs that were asked, you will see on the balance sheet that item.


MR. SHEPHERD:  See, I thought when you said that you adjusted the equity in THESL, I had understood that that didn't really have any rate impacts, but you're saying it actually has a rate impact of several million dollars?


MR. COUILLARD:  I never said there was no rate impact.  What I've said is this money was not directed to the shareholder.  The amount of money was basically moved up into corp to align ourselves with the 65:35 debt:equity ratio, the category that we are in, as prescribed by the debt ‑‑ sorry, I keep saying debt ‑‑ by the distribution rate handbook.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't understand this, because my understanding is that that sort of incidental investment income doesn't go into the rate calculation, anyway, does it, because your rate calculation doesn't include all of the interest expense, interest revenue, et cetera?  That stuff is all done by a capital calculation that the Board prescribes; right?   Maybe I just misunderstood it.  Can you help me?


MR. COUILLARD:  Give us a second, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Shepherd, interest on cash is considered a revenue offset, so that would be reflected in the rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought it was included in the working capital calculation, is it not?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No.  In rate development, part of the income allowed to the utility, there is an income component that is based as a return on working capital allowance, and that's all that is.  So there's only return that's related to that particular item.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that was 7 million; right?


MR. SARDANA:  Again, that's our forecast on a forward test year basis.  That -- it's not 7 million.  It's 3.3 million.  That's what that is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  3.3 million is ‑‑ no, no, no.  Sorry.  That difference, the drop in investment income, is 7 million; right?


MR. SARDANA:  From an unadjusted account that you're looking at, which we haven't gone through in painstaking detail, if you want to just look at the numbers, sure, it adds up to 7 million, but we would be -- going back, if we had to do an historical test year, we would have gone through that account and said, Are these revenue offsets accurate, which we haven't done.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, the way the historical test year worked, that wouldn't be a tier one adjustment, would it?  A change in investment income wouldn't be ‑‑


MR. SARDANA:  No, it wouldn't be.


MR. COCHRANE:  If there had been any unusual items in the account, there could have been adjustments, absolutely. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  But there weren't.  It was just you had more cash in 2004 ‑‑


MR. COCHRANE:  We did not go through the account, so we don't know if there was anything unusual.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The other thing -- the adjustment in there, because it's 14 million and only 7 million is the investment income, another adjustment is the change in your duct rentals; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's about another 3 million?


MR. COUILLARD:  2.6, I believe.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That also is something that would not normally be a tier 1 adjustment.


MR. COUILLARD:  No, it would not be.  That is my understanding.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What's the other 4 million; do you know?


MR. COUILLARD:  Just a second.  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd.  Can I get your last question?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The other -- we've accounted for 10 out of the $14 million change.  What's the other 4 million?  Do you know what it is?


MR. COCHRANE:  In constructing our projection for 2006, we did uncover some very significant items in 2004 that were non-reoccurring in nature.  One of them was an adjustment to the allowance for doubtful accounts that relates to our non-distribution revenue activities, and that constituted 2.7 million of income in 2004 that was non-reoccurring in nature.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just help me with this.  The thing you filed, the historical data, that was all distribution data; right?


MR. COCHRANE:  No, the revenue offsets includes things that are ‑‑ when I say non-distribution, it means it's not sale of electricity, if you like.  There are other activities that the LDC does, such as customer demand work, so a customer needs us to do something because it involves a utility asset.  We go out and do it, and we bill the customer for that.  That still occurs within THESL.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  So in 2004 you did something for -- and you got paid $2.6 million for it, but you don't expect to do it again in 2006?


MR. COCHRANE:  No.  What I said was we have set up -- just as we set up for electricity sales, we set up an allowance for doubtful accounts, basically the historical accumulation bad debt expenses.  We have review that provision in 2004 and found that it had been overstated, and, therefore, we were $2.7 million to the good just for this one-time adjustment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it was just an accounting entry in 2004?


MR. COCHRANE:  Basically an accounting entry, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then the other $1 million, do you know where it is?


MR. COCHRANE:  There is another significant item which dealt with the sale of scrap material.  We undertook an exercise to review a lot of our material that wasn't required on a go-forward basis and sold it to scrap, and realized a gain on that sale.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you're selling stuff, like, things you don't need anymore, on a regular basis.  This is something different than that?


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, this was exceptional in terms of the scope of it.  So in terms of the total amount, we would not expect to realize anything like that.  On a go-forward basis and when we look back at our records, basically the cost of collection and disposal roughly offsets the value of the proceeds that we receive.  So there was not a significant contribution from this on an ongoing basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  Neither of those two things you have just talked about would be tier 1 adjustments under the handbook, would they?


MR. COCHRANE:  They may or may not have been, but we didn't go through the analysis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I'm finished with this area, so if this is an appropriate time for you to break, that would be fine.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  We will adjourn until 1 o'clock on Tuesday.  Mr. Millar, will you, in writing, on Monday advise the parties as to your position on this McShane letter that is J3.1?   


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  That was right, we are going to start in the afternoon?  I think you wanted to leave Tuesday morning for Ottawa Hydro; is that right?


MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  Is Mr. Shepherd calling his witness?


MR. SHEPHERD:  My witness is ready and raring to go.


MR. KAISER:  That was the plan, I think.  


MR. MILLAR:  So this panel will stand down then.


MR. KAISER:  That's correct.  How long do you think your witnesses will be?


MR. SHEPHERD:  We have one witness.  His direct will be less than 10 minutes, and I understand from Mr. Rodger that he doesn't have a lot, but he can tell you himself.


MR. KAISER:  So this panel should be ready to go Tuesday.


MR. RODGER:  Yes, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:02 p.m.
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